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(1)

RELIGIOUS FREEDOM, DEMOCRACY, HUMAN 
RIGHTS IN ASIA: STATUS OF IMPLEMENTA-
TION OF THE TIBETAN POLICY ACT, BLOCK 
BURMESE JADE ACT, AND NORTH KOREAN 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 

THURSDAY, JUNE 2, 2011

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, DC. 
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 o’clock a.m., in 

room 2172 Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Ileana Ros-
Lehtinen (chairman of the committee) presiding. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. For opening statements, I will recog-
nize the chairman and ranking member of the Subcommittee on Af-
rica, Global Health, and Human Rights Subcommittee for a 3-
minute speech. We will then hear from our witnesses, and I would 
ask that you summarize your prepared statements in 5 minutes 
each before we commence with the question and answers from 
members under the 5-minute rule. 

Without objection, the witnesses’ prepared statements will be 
made a part of the record, and members may have 5 days to insert 
statements, questions and additional material for the record, sub-
ject to the length limitations in the rules. 

The chair now recognizes herself for 7 minutes. 
Today we are here to discuss the dark clouds of oppression that 

hang ever heavier over the peoples of Tibet, Burma, and North 
Korea. 

I was proud to be a co-sponsor with our late chairman and strong 
human rights advocate, Tom Lantos, of the Tibetan Policy Act, and 
an original co-sponsor of the Block Burmese JADE Act. I was also 
privileged to author the reauthorization of the North Korean 
Human Rights Act, which was enacted into law in 2008. 

Congress has long sought to address the suffering of the people 
of Tibet, Burma, and North Korea through legislation to ease, to 
some degree, their pain. Let us now examine the executive branch’s 
track record in implementing these Acts. 

There is a common thread that leads to a massive spider web of 
human rights and religious freedom violations. At the core sits 
China. As we commemorate the 22nd anniversary of the 
Tiananmen Square massacre on Saturday, we must never forget 
those who fell as the tanks crushed the democratic aspirations of 
the Chinese people. 
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We must never forget that the heirs to this shameful Tiananmen 
legacy and their comrades in blood lust continue to subjugate by 
the sword not only the Chinese people but also the people of Tibet, 
Burma and North Korea. Whatever the motive, a rising China is 
at the center of this trio of tyranny which casts a dark shadow over 
the otherwise optimistic projections for Asia’s future. 

Turning to the three laws that we are examining today, since 
2002 when the Tibetan Policy Act first called for the establishment 
of a U.S. official presence in the capital of Tibet, there has been 
absolutely zero diplomatic progress. The State Department must 
make it perfectly clear to China’s diplomats that there will be no 
more Chinese consulates opened in the U.S., not in Atlanta, not in 
Boston, not in Honolulu, until the stars and stripes are flying 
proudly over a U.S. diplomatic facility in Tibet. 

It is also regrettable that the Special Coordinator for Tibetan 
Issues, a position created by the Tibetan Policy Act, could not ap-
pear as a witness today to address the oversight concerns of Con-
gress with regard to this act. 

I now would like to turn to the Block Burmese JADE Act. I un-
derstand that the administration has finally put forward the name 
of Derek Mitchell to serve as the Special Representative and Policy 
Coordinator for Burma, a position created by the act, and that he 
is awaiting Senate confirmation. 

I would like our administration witnesses to explain why it took 
almost 21⁄2 years to name this official to a key position legislatively 
mandated by Congress. I would also ask the administration wit-
nesses to elaborate on the administration’s approach to the Bur-
mese junta and if the administration remains committed to pur-
suing what it calls a policy of pragmatic engagement, a policy I 
strongly disagree with. 

Another key component of the Burma law was the prohibition on 
the import of Burmese gemstones, rubies and jade. A Government 
Accountability Office GAO report on September 30, 2009, stated, 
‘‘U.S. agencies have taken some steps, but have not shown that 
they are effectively restricting imports of Burmese origin rubies, 
jade and related jewelry, while allowing imports of non-Burmese 
origin goods.’’

If we could work so effectively with the African countries and our 
allies to ensure that we could block the importation of blood dia-
monds during the conflicts in Africa, one has to question why it 
would seem that we have not made the same efforts with blocking 
imports of Burmese rubies. 

Finally, let me address the North Korean Human Rights Act. It 
is especially appropriate that the Special Envoy for North Korean 
Human Rights Issues, a position created by the act, is here today. 
We welcome Dr. Bob King, a long-time trusted advisor to Chairman 
Lantos and former Democratic Chief of Staff for this committee. 

The North Korean Human Rights Act specifically clarified any 
confusion on the eligibility of North Koreans for refugee or asylum 
consideration in the United States. While the vast majority of 
North Korean refugees will continue to be resettled in South Korea 
for historic, linguistic, and cultural reasons, the Act spells out that 
the U.S. doors remain open to North Koreans fleeing savage op-
pression. 
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Only about 120 North Korean refugees have made it to the 
United States in the 7 years since enactment of this legislation. 
That raises questions about the State Department’s purposefulness. 

Another issue addressed in the act is food assistance to North 
Korea. The act is clear in stipulating that ‘‘such assistance should 
also be provided and monitored so as to minimize the possibility 
that such assistance could be diverted for military or political use.’’

I share the concerns of my Senate colleagues in their May 20 let-
ter to Secretary Clinton that any food aid provided would most 
likely be used for propaganda purposes to mark the hundredth an-
niversary of the North Korean founder. It should be clear that 
there should be strong opposition in the Congress to any attempt 
to provide food assistance paid for by the American taxpayer for 
more bread and circuses in Pyongyang. 

I now turn to the distinguished ranking member, my friend Mr. 
Berman, for his opening remarks. 

[The prepared statement of Chairman Ros-Lehtinen follows:]
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Mr. BERMAN. Well, thank you, madam chairman, and thank you 
for convening this very timely hearing focused on the human rights 
situation in Tibet, Burma, and North Korea. 

Nearly 84 million Tibetans, Burmese, and North Koreans cannot 
speak freely, worship how they choose, or elect their own govern-
ment leaders. There are few places in the world where people have 
endured as long under the yoke of oppression with little hope of a 
better life. In Tibet, the uniqueness of Tibetan culture is being 
slowly extinguished, strangled by Han, migration, and Chinese 
policies that restrict religion association and movement. 

As the State Department notes in its recent human rights report, 
government authorities continue to commit serious human rights 
abuses, including extra judicial killings, torture, arbitrary arrests, 
extra judicial detention, and house arrest. Hundreds of Tibetans, 
especially monks, remain incarcerated for their role in the 2008 
protests. 

Under the Dalai Lama, who will be in Washington this summer, 
Tibetans have sought to overcome adversity and hardship. Exiled 
communities have been established in India, the United States, Eu-
rope, and elsewhere to preserve Tibetan cultural identity, lan-
guage, and religion. It is a tribute to the Dalai Lama’s moral lead-
ership that the diaspora has remained strong, but he knows, and 
we know, that in the future this strength could be threatened with 
his eventual passing. 

China has long feared and sought to undermine the transition to 
the Panchen Lama, the second highest lama in Tibetan Buddhism. 
He has been held captive for 16 years, since he was 6 years old, 
and during that time has not been seen by the outside world. It is 
a sad commentary that Beijing felt it necessary to imprison a child 
for so long. 

In Burma, the leaders of the country fear their own people, and 
thousands have been imprisoned. Last November Burma held elec-
tions for the first time in 20 years. Regrettably, what should have 
been an important milestone for the people of that impoverished 
country turned out to be more of the same. The ruling military dic-
tatorship fixed the process to ensure its continued dominance, and 
the vote was marred by widespread fraud and intimidation. 

I am pleased the Obama administration has put forward a nomi-
nation for the Special Representative and Policy Coordinator for 
Burma, as required by the Tom Lantos Block Burmese JADE Act 
of 2008. I hope the Senate will confirm him quickly. It is important 
that we redouble our efforts to pressure the government to end its 
repression. The economic and diplomatic sanctions the United 
States has imposed since the 1990s have too often been under-
mined by Burma’s neighbors. 

North Korea’s status is unique, a nation ruled absolutely by one 
family, in which millions live in desperate conditions, impover-
ished, often starving, living in constant fear of arbitrary arrest and 
possible torture or execution. According to Human Rights Watch, 
hundreds of thousands live in prison camps, with some children 
growing to maturity, if they are lucky, while imprisoned. 

In 2004, Congress passed the North Korean Human Rights Act 
with overwhelming bipartisan support to focus U.S. attention on 
the plight of the North Korean people. The Act provided new re-
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sources to assist North Korean refugees, supported democracy and 
human rights programs, and improved access to information 
through radio broadcasts and other activities. 

It also required the President to appoint a Special Envoy on 
North Korean Human Rights, which is now filled, I am happy to 
say, by Ambassador King who, as the Democratic staff director of 
this committee, worked on the passage of this milestone legislation. 
We are fortunate to have Ambassador King with us today, and 
eager to hear about his recent trip to North Korea. We also wel-
come the other distinguished witnesses, and look forward to hear-
ing their suggestions as to what we should be doing to help more 
effectively human rights in Asia. Thank you, Madam Chairman. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Mr. Berman. Pleased to 
yield 3 minutes to Chairman Smith, chairman of the Subcommittee 
on Africa, Global Health, and Human Rights. 

Mr. SMITH. Thank you very much. Thank you, Madam Chair-
man. As you know, I had the privilege of working with Congress-
man Frank Wolf on the passage of the International Religious 
Freedom Act in 1998, which includes several important tools for 
ensuring religious freedom and that religious freedom is an essen-
tial component of U.S. foreign policy. 

I would note my subcommittee will hold a hearing tomorrow 
morning to examine IRFA and proposed amendments to strengthen 
our diplomatic efforts in this critical human rights area. 

In the context of this hearing, I would note that the People’s Re-
public of China remains a country of particular concern, so des-
ignated by the act and by the administration in official recognition 
that the government engages in systematic, ongoing, and egregious 
violations of religious freedom. 

I personally know scores of religious leaders who have been, and 
still are, suffering religious persecution in China. One of those indi-
viduals is Bishop Su of Guangdong Province, who I met back in 
1994. He was rearrested in 1997. Prior to that arrest, he had been 
jailed five times, spent a total of 20 years in jail, and had been 
beaten so savagely that he suffered extensive loss of hearing. 

I would also point out that Gao Zhisheng, a great man who sev-
eral of us nominated for the Nobel Peace prize along with Liu 
Xiaobo—here is a man who disappeared, and he did provide, when 
he was out briefly, a detailed account of the torture that he had 
suffered, just like Tibetan Buddhists, just like the Uighurs, where 
cattle prods were put into his mouth and on his genitals, and was 
almost killed as a result of that torture. 

This is how the Chinese Government mistreats. The cruelty that 
is meted out against those who try to practice their faith, be they 
Falun Gong, Tibetan Buddhists, Christians as part of the under-
ground church, or other people who are just trying to practice their 
faith. 

Vietnam, of course, remains an egregious violator of human 
rights and already designated CPC. We welcome Dr. Bob King, our 
Ambassador, and I look forward to hearing his insights and rec-
ommendation as to how we might better implement the North Ko-
rean Human Rights Act. 

It seems to me that the time has come not just to promote ag-
gressively our efforts to mitigate the nuclear threat on the Korean 
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Peninsula in North Korea, but also to engage as robustly on the 
human rights violations committed by the dear leader in North 
Korea. So I look forward to their testimony. Thank you for this 
hearing. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much, Chairman Smith. 
Mr. Payne is not here. So we will recognize Ms. Wilson for 1 
minute for any opening remarks she would like to make. 

Ms. WILSON OF FLORIDA. I thank Chairman Ros-Lehtinen and 
Ranking Member Berman for holding this hearing today, and 
thank you for this opportunity. 

Human rights, democracy, and freedom have eluded the people 
of Tibet, Burma, and North Korea for decades. In Tibet, the Chi-
nese Government continues with policies that undermine the proud 
culture and religion of the people. Although elections were held and 
the theoretical transition to a civilian government has happened, 
human rights is a foreign word in Burma, and in North Korea, the 
most hidden country in the world, the majority of the people face 
daily power outages, no food, and no human rights. 

I am interested in hearing how effective have American tax dol-
lars been in helping the people of Tibet with projects supported by 
the United States. I need to know if there has been any significant 
improvement for the human rights in Burma, and if any sanctions 
need to be removed or renewed. 

I hope that we have a better understanding of the current secu-
rity situation along the North Korean border for North Koreans 
trying to cross to and from China. Most importantly, we have to 
do what we can to ensure that all human beings have the basic 
human rights that we all deserve. 

The religious ethic that we are supposed to help the least of our 
brothers and sisters seems to be lost in the countries of Tibet, 
Burma, and North Korea. It is the job of this committee to help 
them find it. 

Again, I thank the chair for this time. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much, Ms. Wilson. The 

chair is now pleased to welcome our witnesses. 
Ambassador Robert King became the Special Envoy for North 

Korean Human Rights Issues on November 2009 following his con-
firmation by the United States Senate. Bob is an old friend of the 
committee due to his quarter-century of work on Capitol Hill—you 
are an old guy—serving for 2 years as staff director of this com-
mittee. 

Bob’s legislative work, including in support of the North Korean 
Human Rights Act, took root as he helped shape Congressman Tom 
Lantos’ excellent human rights agenda as his chief of staff for 24 
years. Ambassador King holds a PhD in international relations 
from the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, and he has just 
recently returned from a fact finding mission to North Korea. Wel-
come back, Bob. Thank you. 

We will also then hear from Joseph Yun, who was appointed 
Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for East Asian and Pacific Af-
fairs in August 2010. Mr. Hun’s portfolio is focused on Southeast 
Asian issues. Since last summer, he has been closely involved in 
the implementation of the administration’s pragmatic engagement 
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policy directed toward the junta in Burma, and he, in fact, just re-
turned from a trip to that area. 

His overseas Foreign Service postings include South Korea, Thai-
land, France, Indonesia, and Hong Kong. He holds degrees from 
the London School of Economics and the University of Wales. We 
look forward to your testimony, Mr. Yun. 

Finally, we have Deputy Assistant Secretary of State for Democ-
racy, Human Rights and Labor, Mr. Daniel Baer, who will address 
human rights and religious freedom issues in Tibet. Prior to as-
suming his position at the State Department in November 2009, 
Mr. Baer was an assistant professor in Georgetown University’s 
McDonough School of Business where he taught business ethics. 
Daniel holds a Bachelor’s degree from Harvard and a Doctoral de-
gree from the University of Oxford. He could not get into my col-
lege, Miami Dade community College. So you had to go to Harvard 
and Oxford. So welcome back, Mr. Baer. 

I would like to kindly remind our witnesses to keep your oral tes-
timony to no more than 5 minutes. You know this drill well, Dr. 
King. Oh, Mr. Berman is recognized. 

Mr. BERMAN. I thank you very much, Madam Chairman. Just as 
so often happens around here, the Judiciary Committee is marking 
up four bills at the same time as this is going on. So if a couple 
of us—I know Mr. Deutch is also on both committees—are running 
in and out, it is not because you said something that offended us 
or bored us. It is because we had to cast a vote over there. Thank 
you. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much. Dr. King is recog-
nized. Mr. Ambassador. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE ROBERT KING, AMBAS-
SADOR, SPECIAL ENVOY FOR NORTH KOREAN HUMAN 
RIGHTS ISSUES 

Ambassador KING. Madam Chairman, I won’t mention your com-
ment about my age, but I do want to thank you for my job. If it 
hadn’t been for you and Mr. Berman, I wouldn’t be in this position. 
So I appreciate that. Thanks also for the invitation to testify today. 

Your letter raised five questions with regard to North Korea, and 
I would like to talk a little bit about those. First, the implementa-
tion of the North Korean Human Rights Act. 

A couple of weeks ago, I sent to you and to Mr. Berman copies 
of a report, the annual report, of the Special Envoy on the North 
Korea human rights dealing with the implementation of the North 
Korean Human Rights Act. It is unclassified. It is available. If 
there are any questions, if you want additional information than 
what I have done there, I would be happy to do that. 

The one thing I do want to say in terms of implementation of the 
North Korean Human Rights Act: One of the things the act speci-
fied is that the Special Envoy should participate in formulation and 
implementation of activities carried out under the act. 

My office and the State Department is in the same suite of of-
fices that Ambassador Steven Bosworth and Ambassador Sung Kim 
have, and we speak every day on issues. We have meetings to-
gether. We confer. So I think there is not a problem at all in terms 
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of my being a participant in what happens in terms of State De-
partment policy on North Korea. 

The second issue that you raised in your invitation was a ques-
tion about programs to resettle North Korean refugees in the 
United States and to assist North Korean refugees in China. You 
mentioned the problems of North Koreans choosing to settle in 
South Korea rather than the United States. 

Over the lat decade there have been some 21,000 North Koreans 
who have settled primarily, as I said, in South Korea. Because of 
the unique situation and problems for these refugees, Assistant 
Secretary of State for East Asia Kurt Campbell has discussed the 
concerns with his particular group, with all of our ambassadors in 
East Asia. The Bureau on Population Refugees and Migration has 
had special sessions to train and instruct staff that deal with those 
issues. 

So I think we have made a conscious effort to try to deal with 
the problem of these refugees. We work very closely with our ally, 
South Korea, in dealing with these refugees, and work to allow 
them to get out as quickly as possible when that is the case. 

You asked about the issues of what we are able to do in China 
to assist these refugees. If you would like to go into detail in terms 
of that issue, I would be happy to come up, but I would prefer to 
do it in a classified session because of the sensitivity of some of the 
issues involved there. 

The third issue you mentioned was broadcasting information to 
North Korea. That is a particularly important element in terms of 
opening North Korea to outside news and information. 

Under the Broadcasting Board of Governors, we provide broad-
casting assistance for Voice of America and for Radio Free Asia to 
broadcast. Under funding that is provided to the State Department, 
we have provided funds for so called defector radio, radio oper-
ations that are primarily staffed by North Korean refugees, pri-
marily in South Korea, and those are also broadcast. So we have 
continued to put major efforts into the broadcasting area. 

On the human rights situation in North Korea, the State Depart-
ment puts out a series of reports annually on these kinds of issues. 
One of them is the country reports on human rights conditions. The 
last report calls the human rights conditions in North Korea de-
plorable. Mr. Smith mentioned the International Religious Freedom 
report, and mentioned that North Korea is a country of particular 
concern, then identifies a particular problem in terms of religious 
liberty. 

The Trafficking in Persons report identifies North Korea as a tier 
three country, a country whose government does not fully comply 
with the minimum standards and is not making significant efforts 
to do so. There is no question that North Korea has serious prob-
lems in terms of dealing with those issues. 

The fifth question that you asked about was the food situation 
in North Korea. As you know, North Korea has serious problems 
in terms of providing food for its population. Under average condi-
tions, it provides enough food for about 80 percent of the popu-
lation. 

This year, the government of the DPRK has requested assistance 
from a number of governments, private institutions, the World 
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Food Program. There have been assessments conducted by Amer-
ican NGOs, by the World Food Program, and as you mentioned last 
week, I led a team to Pyongyang to analyze the food situation in 
North Korea where we were able to have a field team that is out 
in the field analyzing what the circumstances and conditions are. 
I had the opportunity of discussing with North Korea leaders the 
requirements that we would have in terms of monitoring what goes 
on, if we are to provide food aid. 

I want to emphasize, first of all, that we have not made a deci-
sion on providing food. Our field team will be back from Pyongyang 
later this week, and sometime in the future we will be making a 
decision on that issue, but I would emphasize that the consider-
ation that is most important in making a decision on food will be 
the need. We will not take political considerations into account in 
deciding whether to provide aid. 

We will also have to look at competing requirements for our re-
sources, and we will have to be assured that we have the ability 
to monitor the delivery of the food aid. 

I want to mention one last comment in terms of my visit to 
Pyongyang. During the last meeting we had with the First Vice 
Foreign Minister, during the dinner he commented that my title 
caused them some problems. That became an occasion where we 
had an exchange on human rights that lasted some 20 minutes. 

The conclusion of that was they were willing to talk about 
human rights. They are willing to look into some of the issues that 
we are interested in raising with them. He invited me back to 
Pyongyang to have discussions on human rights, and I am looking 
forward to possibly having that opportunity. 

Thank you very much. I hope I didn’t take too long. 
[The prepared statement of Ambassador King follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Dr. King. Thank you so 
much. 

Mr. Yun. 

STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE JOSEPH Y. YUN, DEPUTY AS-
SISTANT SECRETARY OF STATE, EAST ASIAN AND PACIFIC 
AFFAIRS 

Mr. YUN. I thank you, Madam Chairman and Mr. Berman and 
members of the committee. Thank you for the invitation to testify 
today. As you requested, I am very pleased to discuss the central 
aspects of our Burma policy, recent developments, and the imple-
mentation of the JADE Act. 

We are pursuing a dual track approach, combing pressure with 
principled engagement. The goals of this policy are to achieve the 
unconditional release of all political prisoners, respect for basic 
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human rights, an inclusive dialogue with Nobel Laureate Aung San 
Suu Kyi and others that would lead to national reconciliation, and 
adherence to U.N. Security Council resolutions on nonproliferation. 
I would say the last is especially relevant to North Korea and 
Burma military trade. 

The U.S. plays a leading role in shining a light on the Burmese 
regime’s dismal human rights record. We maintain extensive, tar-
geted sanctions against the regime and its key supporters. We 
work closely with the European Union and its member states, Can-
ada, Australia, Japan, Korea, Southeast Asian nations and others 
to press the regime to undertake genuine reform. 

U.S. sanctions are based on a series of executive orders and key 
legislation passed over the past 20 years. The most recent Burma-
specific legislation, the Block Burmese JADE Act of 2008, helps to 
ensure that we do not allow the use of our resources to perpetuate 
authoritarian rule. The JADE Act includes provisions for financial 
and travel sanctions that target former and present leaders of the 
Burmese Government, officials involved in the repression of human 
rights, other key supporters of the government and their imme-
diate family members. 

As you mentioned, Madam Chairman, the JADE Act requested 
the appointment of a special representative and policy coordinator 
for Burma to ensure high level focus on improving the situation in 
Burma and promoting democratic reform in human rights. 

As you mentioned, we are very pleased that the President has 
nominated Derek Mitchell for this position. He brings a wealth of 
the Asia experience and senior government experience to the table. 
If confirmed, Mr. Mitchell will carry out his mandate to advance 
all aspects of our Burma policy. 

The JADE Act also bans the import of Burmese jade, rubies and 
related jewelry to the United States. This aspect of the Act is effec-
tive, although Burma’s regime reaps significant revenues from its 
tightly controlled gemstone industry and exports to neighboring 
countries. 

Recognizing that sanctions alone have failed to produce signifi-
cant reform, we have engaged in direct dialogue with senior offi-
cials over the past 18 months. Assistant Secretary Kurt Campbell 
traveled to Burma in 2009 and 2010. I have also made two visits 
to Burma, one in December 2010 and, more recently, 2 weeks ago. 

Burmese authorities expressed the desire for improved relations 
with the United States, but to date have failed to address our core 
concerns. We are disappointed by the lack of results, although from 
the outset we expected that real change would be a long, slow proc-
ess. We will continue to urge the regime in private and in public 
to engage constructively and undertake meaningful reform. 

Burma’s 2010 elections, its first in 20 years, were based on a fun-
damentally flawed process with restrictive regulations that ex-
cluded Burma’s largest pro-democracy party, the National League 
for Democracy. These elections were neither free nor fair. 

The regime’s proxy political party, the Union Solidarity and De-
velopment Party, won the majority of contested parliamentary 
seats, while 25 percent of all seats were reserved for military ap-
pointees. Members of opposition and ethnic minority parties won a 
negligible number of seats. 
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Subsequently, the ruling authority, the State and Development 
Council, officially dissolved, and President Thein Sein, the former 
prime minister and a retired general, assumed power. His govern-
ment comprises almost all active or former military leaders of the 
regime. 

Following the election, the regime released Aung San Suu Kyi 
from 71⁄2 years of house arrest, the end of an unjustified sentence. 

Currently, members of the international community, when al-
lowed to visit Burma, are able to consult with her, as is our Em-
bassy in Rangoon. I had the opportunity to discuss a wide range 
of issues with her during my own visits. 

We are committed to supporting Aung San Suu Kyi’s efforts to 
seek reinstatement of the NLD and to hold a meaningful dialogue 
with the senior government authorities. 

Our challenges in Burma remain daunting, and the human 
rights situation remains deplorable. The U.S. alone cannot achieve 
progress in Burma, and we are working very closely with our Euro-
pean allies and our Asian and regional partners to urge the Bur-
mese Government to engage constructively with the international 
community and address longstanding concerns. 

Thank you for inviting me to testify before you today. I welcome 
any questions you may have. Thank you. 

[The prepared statement of Joseph Yun follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much. 
I am going to break protocol a second, and I would like to recog-

nize Mr. Connolly for 1 minute, because he was not there for the 
opening statements, and you had 3 minutes—1 minute. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. I thank you, Madam Chairman and, forgive me, 
I have another hearing in another room. So that is why I was ab-
sent. 

I just want to welcome our witnesses and, thank you, Madam 
Chairman, for holding this hearing today. Very important, and we 
are delighted to have a special guest, Richard Gere, to talk about 
Tibet as well. 

Highlighting the human rights issues in all three of these coun-
tries, I think, is very important to the United States Congress to 
send an unadulterated message that this congress is committed to 
the pursuit of human rights in every country in the world. We be-
lieve that human rights is a universal aspiration, not just an Amer-
ican value, though an important American value, and hopefully, 
this hearing will further that cause. 

Thank you, Madam Chairman. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Mr. Connolly. 
Mr. Baer is recognized. 
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STATEMENT OF THE HONORABLE DANIEL B. BAER, DEPUTY 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY OF STATE, DEMOCRACY, HUMAN 
RIGHTS AND LABOR 
Mr. BAER. Thank you very much, Madam Chairman. 
Before we begin, I ant to thank you also, not only for inviting me, 

but also for inviting the second panel, the citizen experts and advo-
cates that are part of that panel are an important part of this con-
versation, and I am very grateful. I am also very grateful that the 
person whose Tibet testimony will be a focus today will not be my 
own. So thank you very much for inviting Richard as well. 

More seriously, before we begin, I want to say how much being 
in this chamber reminds me of how proud I am to be an American 
and how proud I am that our Government is so deeply and thor-
oughly committed to advancing the cause of human rights. Your 
holding this hearing today, the members of this committee holding 
this hearing today is an example of that commitment, and I am 
honored to be here to speak with you, and I am honored to do the 
work that I get to do at the State Department every day. 

It is my pleasure to be here on behalf of Under Secretary Maria 
Otero, the Special Coordinator for Tibetan Issues, to report that 
the Department of State is aggressively implementing the provi-
sions of the Tibetan Human Rights Act—Policy Act of 2002. 

The administration’s goals in implementing this act are twofold: 
First, to promote a substantive dialogue between the Chinese Gov-
ernment and the Dalai Lama or his representatives; and, second, 
to sustain Tibet’s unique religious, linguistic, and cultural herit-
ages. 

The administration, including the President, Secretary Clinton, 
Deputy Secretary Steinberg, Under Secretary Otero, Assistant Sec-
retaries Campbell and Posner and myself, has urged the Chinese 
Government to engage in a dialogue with the Dalai Lama or his 
representatives and, through dialogue, to seek results. Regrettably, 
the Chinese Government has not engaged in such a dialogue since 
January 2010. 

We continue to remind the Chinese Government that the vast 
majority of Tibetans advocate, not for independence, but rather for 
genuine autonomy in order to preserve Tibet’s unique culture, reli-
gion, and fragile environment. 

We believe that the Dalai Lama can be a constructive partner for 
China. His views command the respect of the vast majority of Ti-
betans, and he has consistently advocated nonviolence. Engage-
ment with the Dalai Lama or his representatives to resolve prob-
lems facing Tibetans is in the interest of the Chinese Government 
and of the Tibetan people. 

In addition to pressing for results based dialogue, we are imple-
menting the act with Congress’ support by helping nongovern-
mental organizations that work in Tibet and assist Tibetan refu-
gees in the region. Through numerous programs, the State Depart-
ment and the U.S. Agency for International Development support 
cultural and linguistic preservation, sustainable development, and 
environmental preservation in Tibet and Tibetan majority areas, as 
well as Tibetan refugee communities in other countries. 

Under Secretary Otero recently visited programs in India and 
Nepal where we assist Tibetan refugees and where we are actively 
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seeking ways to strengthen Tibetan refugee settlements. Next 
month USAID’s India mission expects to issue an award for a new 
$2 million, 2-year program to support Tibetan settlements in India, 
Nepal, and Bhutan. 

Of course, our own efforts continue against a backdrop of con-
tinuing repression. We are extremely concerned about the deterio-
rating human rights situation in China and, in particular, in the 
Tibet autonomous region and other Tibetan areas. Recent regula-
tions restricting Tibetan language, education, strict controls over 
the practice of Tibetan Buddhism, and the arrests of prominent 
nonpolitical Tibetans reflect the troubling human rights situation 
there today. 

Religious restrictions in Tibetan areas have dramatically wors-
ened in recent years. Discriminatory religious policies have exacer-
bated tensions between Han Chinese and Tibetan Buddhists, and 
triggered the 2008 riots that claimed the lives of Han and Tibetan 
civilians and police officers. 

Chinese authorities control Tibet’s monasteries, including the 
number of monks and nuns, and interfere in the process of recog-
nizing reincarnate lamas. Monks and nuns are forced to attend reg-
ular political patriotic education sessions, which sometimes include 
forced enunciations of the Dalai Lama. 

As Secretary Clinton has said, we were deeply concerned when 
we received reports in mid-March of this year that a young Tibetan 
monk at the Kirti monastery in Sichuan self-immolated in protest 
over the removal of monks from the monastery following the 2008 
riots. Reports state that as many as 300 monks were forcibly re-
moved from Kirti again in April of this year, and paramilitary 
forces still have the monastery on lockdown. 

The State Department’s international freedom and human rights 
reports state that the Chinese Government represses freedom of 
speech, religion, association and movement within Tibet, and rou-
tinely commit serious human rights abuses, including ex judicial 
killings, detentions, arbitrary arrests, and torture. 

President Obama and Secretary Clinton have raised Tibet 
human rights concerns directly with Chinese officials multiple 
times, including with President Hu during his January 2011 visit 
to Washington. The President and Secretary Clinton met with the 
Dalai Lama in February 2010, and the Secretary raised Tibetan 
issues directly and at length in the 2010 and 2011 strategic and 
economic dialogues with China. 

Under Secretary Otero has met with the Dalai Lama four times 
since October 2009, and with his special envoy, Lodi Gyuari, nine 
times in the last 12 months. In April at the human rights dialogue 
in Beijing, Assistant Secretary Posner and I raised our concerns 
about China’s counterproductive policies in Tibetan areas of China, 
and reiterated our call for resumption of dialogue, and also raised 
specific cases. 

We were joined in that effort by then Ambassador Huntsman, 
who visited the Tibetan autonomous region last fall. We also met 
with the United Front Work Department which handles Tibetan 
policy for the Chinese Government, and pressed the Chinese to set 
a date with Lodi Gyuari for the next round of talks. 
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We again raised concern about Tibetan religious freedom with 
Minister Wang Zuo’an from the State Administration of Religious 
Affairs. Separately, we have provided to the Chinese authorities a 
comprehensive list of individuals from across China who have been 
arrested or are missing, and that list included many Tibetans, in-
cluding six cases that we specifically raised during our meetings. 

As I said when I began, I along with the rest of the administra-
tion share the goals that Congress expressed through the Tibetan 
Policy Act. We will continue to press the Chinese Government to 
respect internationally recognized human rights in Tibetan areas 
and throughout China, and we will continue to support efforts to 
help Tibetans maintain their cultural, linguistic, and religious her-
itage. 

Thank you again for inviting me today. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Baer follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. 
Thank you trio for excellent testimony. 
I would like to ask about the Dalai Lama’s upcoming visit, as you 

related the meeting that had taken place. But during the Dalai 
Lama’s October 2009 visit to Washington, he was not invited to 
meet with President Obama at the White House. The President 
then had a state visit to China just 1 month later, and prior to that 
the Dalai Lama had met with every President during every visit 
to Washington since 1991. 

The Dalai Lama, as you pointed out, did meet with President 
Obama in February 2010, but was escorted out a back door, 
blocked by snow drifts and garbage bags. We have all seen that dis-
respectful image. His Holiness, the Dalai Lama, is coming back to 
Washington this July, next month. Do you see any reason why the 
White House would not invite the Dalai Lama to meet with the 
President next month? 

Mr. BAER. Thank you, Madam Chairman. As you said, every 
President for the last 20 years has met with the Dalai Lama as an 
internationally recognized religious leader and a Nobel laureate, 
and including President Obama. I don’t know the specific plans for 
the upcoming visit, but I know that he met with him in February 
2010, and we are aware that the upcoming visit is planned for 
July. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. I would strongly encourage the Presi-
dent to pay the proper respect that this leader deserves, and that 
that sad escort out the back door was shameful. He deserves better 
treatment than that. So we hope that they have a productive meet-
ing, and we also hope that he is treated with the respect that he 
has earned. 

On Burma, I would like to ask about the administration’s prag-
matic engagement policy, whether it is principled engagement, 
pragmatic engagement, with the junta in Burma. It is a test case 
for President Obama’s statement that he made, his inaugural 
pledge to ‘‘extend a hand, if you are willing to unclench your fist.’’ 
However, this engagement policy appears to have borne little fruit. 

Since its adoption, we have seen an American citizen imprisoned 
and tortured, Burmese generals engaged in possible nuclear pro-
liferation with North Korea, a flawed election last year, and the 
continued imprisonment of over 2,000 political prisoners, with only 
one, Aung San Suu Kyi, released. Can you please comment on 
what, if anything, has actually been gained from over 2 years of 
this pragmatic engagement with the generals in Burma? 

Mr. YUN. Thank you, Madam Chairman. I would agree with you 
that the engagement side of our dual-track policy has yielded very, 
very limited, if any, gains so far. I wouldn’t like to point any items 
as having made progress. 

I think there are a number of enormous challenges there. Num-
ber one, what do we do about political repression, as you men-
tioned, represented by over 2,000 political prisoners? 

What do we do about ethnic minority groups that are especially 
on the border area that continues to be deprived of some of the 
basic rights; and then, number three, the economic backwardness 
and lack of basic health care, basic education, and so on. While we 
do very much admit that engagement has made very little traction, 
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I think our overall assessment is we got to continue the dual track 
side, both engagement as well as pressure track. 

We would say that one of the more bright aspects is our effort 
to engage ASEANs, especially neighbors such as Vietnam, Indo-
nesia, Thailand, and other countries, and I think they are coming 
around to having a discussion with us. If anyone has leverage over 
Burma and the government, we believe it is the neighbors in 
ASEAN. So working with that side, the regional side, multilateral 
side, we believe very important, and we are having some traction 
there. Thank you. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, sir. Ambassador King, con-
gratulations on gaining the release of U.S. citizen Eddie Jun. As 
you know, many of us have been worried about any quid pro quo 
about food aid in exchange for his release. I know that you spoke 
about it in your statements, but we worry that, if there had been 
any discussions about an exchange for someone’s life, that that only 
encourages these hostile regimes to take further hostages so that 
they can get something in return. But my time is up, and I will 
be glad to yield now to my friend, Mr. Berman, for his questions. 

Mr. BERMAN. Thank you very much, Madam Chairman. I have 
5 minutes for both question and answers. We have three countries, 
three witnesses. So I will try to keep myself under control and ask 
three questions, and then—ask questions to each of you, and then, 
hopefully, enough time for you to answer. 

North Korea: Ambassador King, assuming a decision is made to 
provide food aid based on this need criteria, what can we realisti-
cally do to ensure there is no diversion of that food assistance? 

Mr. Baer, we now give assistance, about $16 million a year, help-
ing Tibetan refugees who cross the Himalayas, helping Tibetans 
preserve their cultural identity, giving political support to the 
Dalai Lama in negotiations with Beijing. How would cuts to these 
programs affect the Tibetan refugee population in India and Nepal 
as they seek to preserve their culture? Would the Chinese Govern-
ment see or portray such cuts as diminishing support for Tibet in 
the U.S.? Would this action undermine—not that I see great hope 
for it—the Tibetan-Chinese dialogue that the U.S. has promoted? 

Mr. Yun, on Burma: The chair asked a question that I was going 
to ask regarding what we are getting. I supported the decision to 
go to a principled and pragmatic engagement with Burma, but 21⁄2 
years later, one asks, other than Aung San Suu Kyi, what we have 
gotten for it. What role will the special envoy play on things like 
the Burmese regime’s refusal to release all political prisoners? Play 
that out for us, what do we do now? 

Ambassador KING. Do I get to go first? 
Mr. BERMAN. 3 minutes left. 
Ambassador KING. I will take one. With regard to monitoring 

and being certain that food is not being diverted, if we provide food 
aid to North Korea, there are a number of things that we have 
done in the past that we continue to work on with the North Ko-
rean Government now. First of all, we would provide monitors who 
would be on the ground in North Korea, who would have access to 
the delivery of the food, who would follow its delivery and make 
sure that the food that is allocated would be delivered to places 
where it is supposed to arrive. 
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We would make sure that those monitors are Korean language 
speakers or that there are Korean language speakers there, so that 
we will be able to follow it fairly closely. 

The kinds of food we provide would be the kinds of food that are 
less desirable for the elite, for the military. For example, we would 
not provide rice. We would focus on some kind of a nutrition pro-
gram that would provide other kinds of food that would be harder 
to divert, and we would also bring the food in at a very deliberate 
pace rather than having a large amount come in at one time that 
would have to be delivered in large quantity. 

So it is a process that we have developed over time that, I think, 
would be——

Mr. BERMAN. I can’t control myself. Let me add a question to this 
mix. What would a decision to provide food aid—how would that 
affect South Korea? What would their reaction be to that decision? 

Ambassador KING. We have had lengthy discussions with South 
Korea about providing food assistance. They would prefer that we 
not provide food assistance. On the other hand, they have allowed 
NGOs in South Korea to provide on their own. 

Mr. BERMAN. Mr. Baer? 
Mr. BAER. Thank you, Mr. Berman. You asked about the $60 mil-

lion a year of programming support that we provide both within 
and to Tibetans outside of Tibet. One way to look at that is, de-
pending on how you count, it is about $2 a person for Tibetans, and 
I think those investments are very well made in terms of sup-
porting the sustaining of linguistic, cultural, religious culture as 
well as in providing support, particularly for the refugee commu-
nities in neighboring countries. 

You asked what the impact would be. The impact would be sig-
nificant of reducing that, I think, both the direct impact on the peo-
ple who benefit from that support and, as you rightly put, we can’t 
control the way that a cut like that would be perceived, and we can 
predict that it would likely be perceived as a weakening of our com-
mitment in a political sense. 

So we very much support continuing that support for the Tibetan 
people. 

Mr. BERMAN. Mr. Yun, you got 20 seconds. 
Mr. YUN. Thank you, Mr. Berman. We cannot do this alone. We 

have to have the international community with us to bring about 
any significant change in Burma. That means especially the 
Asians, Southeast Asians, Europeans. They have to be with us. We 
cannot do it alone, and that will be the main job, I believe, of the 
special envoy. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. You did a good job of controlling your-
self. Thank you. Mr. Smith, the subcommittee chairman on Africa, 
Global Health, and Human Rights. 

Mr. SMITH. Thank you again, Madam Chair. Let me just ask Mr. 
Baer. I guess my question would be to you. Mr. Gere in his testi-
mony notes that the Chinese Government has intensified its al-
ready restrictive policies that undermine Tibetan culture and reli-
gion, increasingly so since the 2008 uprisings in Tibet. 

Tibet remains largely sealed off to the outside world, and he goes 
on to talk about how hundreds of Tibetans, including monks and 
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nuns, remain imprisoned for engaging in nonviolent dissent, and 
are subjected to torture or reeducation. 

He concludes in his testimony that China, again, is intensely fo-
cused on debate for rational and irrational reasons, and obviously 
makes a strong appeal and admonishes all of us to push for the au-
tonomy issue as a win-win situation. 

My question is: What role, in your opinion, does Hu Jintao, the 
man who, when he was deployed to Tibet in 1989, even before 
that—he met with the Panchen Lama mysteriously, the Panchen 
Lama, we believe, was murdered. Nobody knows for sure, and it 
was Hu Jintao who ordered, as we all know, martial law and a 
crackdown in the immediate aftermath when the Dalai Lama got 
the Nobel Peace prize, all of this immediately prior to the 
Tiananmen Square massacre. Then all of a sudden, Hu Jintao is 
on a meteoric rise, a vertical rise, in the government, obviously 
landing where he is today. 

So my question is the Hu factor. Do we fully appreciate the bias, 
the, I would call it, hatred that Hu Jintao has toward the Tibetan 
people, the monks, the Dalai Lama in particular, and when Presi-
dent Obama did meet with him, many of us were profoundly dis-
appointed that, when he had his press conference with Hu Jintao 
at the White House followed by a state dinner with all the flour-
ishes, that human rights were not addressed by the President of 
the United States publicly. 

It was so bad that the Washington Post editorial the next day 
noted that President Obama defends Hu on rights, and President 
Obama went on to say that they have a different culture, they have 
a different political system. Yet the culture is one that desperately 
desires freedom and democracy, and the political system happens 
to be a brutal dictatorship. Don’t offer a defense for that, President 
Obama. And yet he did. 

So my question is—and I know you can say how many times we 
have dialogues and this and that, but it seems to me that, if there 
is not a focused, concerted, consistent, predictable, absolutely 
transparent statement from the President of the United States to 
his counterpart unelected dictator, Hu Jintao, much of what we are 
trying to do collectively on both sides of the aisle to help the Ti-
betan people and all those who are suffering in China goes and is 
laid aside. 

The Hu factor, the autonomy—was autonomy raised by the Presi-
dent in his visit with Hu Jintao at the White House or at any other 
meetings, and again that press conference will long live in my 
memory and many others’ as a grotesquely missed opportunity. He 
could have done it in very diplomatic tones, but he didn’t. So if you 
could. 

Mr. BAER. Thank you, Congressman. First of all, I agree with 
you that President Hu’s record on Tibet is not a good one. Presi-
dent Obama engaged him directly on the autonomy issue on his 
visit, and he also called for him, publicly, to meet with the Dalai 
Lama in February of this year. 

I agree that we need to maintain a focused, concerted effort. We 
need to not lose focus, and we need to not let things fall by the 
wayside. We need to continually raise these issues. When I was in 
Beijing in April with assistant Secretary Posner for the Human 
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Rights Dialogue, this was raised repeatedly in many meetings with 
different parts of the Chinese Government. 

I think that Secretary Clinton and Vice President Biden, most re-
cently when the Chinese were here for the strategic and economic 
dialogue, made clear that not only the issue of Tibet, which the 
Secretary raised at length in her meeting with her counterpart but 
also the broader issue, the broader repression in China right now 
is a serious, serious concern. 

It is problematic for the U.S.-China relationship. As Vice Presi-
dent Biden said, we can’t have a firm foundation for that relation-
ship——

Mr. SMITH. On that point, if I could, because I am almost out of 
time: Sophie Richardson asks—she has a number of urges to the 
committee and to the administration—that there needs to be an 
ask for the release of Tibetan prisoners prior to Vice President’s 
visit to China later this summer. Will Vice President Biden ask for 
the release of those prisoners before his visit, and insist upon it? 

Mr. BAER. We routinely ask, and I expect that we will continue 
to routinely ask for the release of not only Tibetan prisoners but 
other prisoners. We raised the case of Gao Zhisheng, who you 
raised. The Secretary has raised his case several times, and we will 
continue to do that. Yes. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. Thank you, Mr. 
Smith. Mr. Connolly is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you, Madam Chairman. Mr. Baer or Mr. 
Yun, with respect to Burma, the administration announced back in 
the fall of 2009 a shift in policy toward—we characterized as prag-
matic engagement. In the ensuing 20 months, are there things we 
can point to that we think show positive development from a shift 
in that policy to pragmatic engagement? 

Mr. YUN. Thank you very much. As previously mentioned, I 
think the key item, the key gain from principled engagement is our 
ability to have meaningful exchanges with neighbors, ASEAN coun-
tries as well as the regional countries. I would agree with Madam 
Chairman’s assessment that, in terms of concrete gains coming out 
of Burma, we have had very few. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Not much. 
Mr. YUN. Yes. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. In terms of human rights, good for them in posi-

tively engaging with their neighbors, but what about internally in 
terms of the plight of Burmese citizens who are still incarcerated, 
detained, and abused? 

Mr. YUN. That remains the same and deplorable. There are still 
about 2050 political prisoners there. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. One likes the idea of pragmatic engagement, but 
one wonders whether that policy is working. 

Mr. YUN. I think, having said that, we have had this policy for 
now about 2 years, and I think we should give it a chance. In order 
for any policy to work, we have to bring along the international 
community. We cannot do it alone, and how do you bring along the 
international community? I think that is the key question. 

Right now, you have heard ASEANs saying that, in January, 
that sanctions ought to be lifted. So we need to engage them saying 
that we need to go the same direction. As you know, what has hap-
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pened in Burma is that it has turned increasingly to China, and 
how do we manage that in terms of their less dependence on other 
countries and more dependence on China? 

So I think all these things have to be taken into account, and to 
say that right now the engagement policy has had limited gains, 
I don’t think it translates into we should not pursue it. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Yes, although it is your own testimony you just 
gave that said it was limited gains. 

Mr. Baer, speaking of China, you cited the fact that Secretary 
Clinton brought up the issue of the Dalai Lama and the need for 
the Chinese to meet. How is that going? 

Mr. BAER. The Chinese have not offered dates for another round 
of that dialogue since January 2010. That is the longest gap since 
the dialogue started in 2002. 

We will continue to raise, as we have several times in recent 
months, the fact that we think that it is, as Richard Gere’s testi-
mony says, a win-win, that the dialogue can be a fruitful way of 
finding solutions to problems facing the Tibetan people, that raise 
tensions that are problems for the Chinese Government, and that 
they should not shy away from the dialogue. They should embrace 
the dialogue, that the Dalai Lama is a good interlocutor for them, 
and that the dialogue can be productive, if they will engage. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. No, I understand our message, Mr. Baer. The 
question is results. Have the Chinese responded positively to that 
importuning from the Secretary of State? 

Mr. BAER. They have not. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. They have not. Do we have any reason to believe 

they are going to? 
Mr. BAER. I hesitate to make predictions about the decisions of 

the Chinese Government. We will continue to raise it. I think that 
we will continue to press the point that it is in the pragmatic inter-
est of the Chinese Government. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Well, as the chairman said, perhaps one way to 
do that is to make sure he is fully welcome at the White House. 
That might be an interesting symbol for the Chinese to underscore 
the point you are making. 

Mr. King, Ambassador King, I have only 36 seconds, but don’t we 
need, speaking of the Chinese, the Chinese, frankly, to use their le-
verage with the North Koreans if we are going to ever get behav-
ioral changes in Pyongyang? 

Ambassador KING. Definitely, and we are working with the Chi-
nese. I think the Chinese find some of the same frustrations work-
ing with the North Koreans that we do. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. There was just a visit by the North Korea leader 
to China. Do we have reason to believe that the Chinese sort of sat 
him down and a Chinese uncle talk with him? 

Ambassador KING. We have reason to believe that they raised 
the issue of resuming the Six-Party Talks and more cooperative re-
sponse on the part of the North Koreans, yes. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much. Mr. Rohrabacher, 

the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations chair, is recog-
nized for 5 minutes. 
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. Thank you very much, and especially greet-
ings to Ambassador King on having him back with us. 

One of the proudest moments I have had in my 22 years in Con-
gress was when your former boss dragged up corporate leaders 
here to this hearing room to demand that they explain their com-
plicity with the repression of the Chinese people, and I will never 
forget that, and I am very proud to have known Tom Lantos and 
served with him. 

China has allied itself with the world’s worst human rights abus-
ers, and is itself one of the world’s worst human rights abusers; 
and you find a rogue regime murdering its people, you will find an 
alliance with China in that equation. 

We are trying to figure out why our protests haven’t had any im-
pact, why when Mr. Hu gets invited to the White House, he doesn’t 
change his policies after something is mentioned somewhere to a 
Chinese official that we don’t like repression. 

This is nonsense. This is total nonsense. We have built the econ-
omy of China. We have created a Frankenstein monster. It has 
been American businessmen making profit off dealing with that re-
pressive, corrupt regime that is the real message that America is 
sending to China. As long as we are sending technology and capital 
investment, building their economy, permitting them the tech-
nology they need to repress their own people, they are not going 
to take any protest from us seriously. What is this win-win? 

The Chinese policy we have had has been a lose-lose, not only 
are the people of China losing and the people of Tibet and the other 
repressed groups there, the Uyghurs, and the people who want 
freedom of religion and democracy, the Falun Gong. Yes, they have 
all lost. 

America has lost at the same time. We have our corporate lead-
ers over there transferring all of our technological jobs and our 
basic industry to China, strengthening their dictatorship. 

As long as we permit that to happen, don’t think they are ever 
going to take us seriously about our protests that they put the 
Dalai Lama’s next successor in prison, and we don’t know where 
he is. Why should they? Why should they take us seriously, if there 
is no price for them to pay at all? 

Madam Chairman, I think we need to call corporate America 
here, the way Tom Lantos did, and put them on record, because 
these guys are obviously giving the right message, but America by 
our policy and by our building up of their economy is sending the 
wrong message to the dictators in China as well as in Burma and 
North Korea and elsewhere. 

One note. I would like to ask about Korea. There is a free trade 
agreement going through now with South Korea. Does that free 
trade agreement permit goods that are being built in that zone in 
which North Koreans can come down and work in that zone so that 
they don’t have to pay them as much as they pay them in South 
Korea? Are we going to permit items from that zone to be exported 
into the United States under that free trade treaty? 

Ambassador KING. I am sorry, Congressman. You are getting be-
yond my level of expertise on that. I know there has been concern 
about it. 
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Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, I can tell you this much. We end up 
with a free trade treaty with South Korea that permits their busi-
ness elite, of course, cooperating with our business elite, to sell 
products that were made basically by slave labor, people coming 
down from North Korea into that zone, working at wages that then 
go to North Korea—and they pay them a pittance, Madam Chair-
man, a pittance of that, and the rest of it will go to North Korea. 

If we permit that to happen, how could anybody take us seriously 
that we believe that there should be sanctions on North Korea or 
that we are opposing the dictatorship in North Korea, when we are 
financing them, and we have been financing them for 15 years. 

I think that the world, and especially these poor people who are 
repressed in these various countries—they can’t hear what we say, 
because our actions are too loud. Our actions speak louder than our 
words, and they know when we are serious, and so do their oppres-
sors. 

We will have progress in this world when people know that 
America is serious about liberty and justice and who we are sup-
porting, but we haven’t been serious. Thank you very much, 
Madam Chairman. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Rohr-
abacher. Mr. Sires of New Jersey is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. SIRES. Thank you, Madam Chairlady. I think there are a lot 
of things that haven’t been said here that should be said. One of 
them is the fact that I don’t think the Chinese are ever going to 
take us seriously as long as we turn around, we say to them, look, 
we are worried about human rights, and at the end of the con-
versation say, look, we need another $100 billion. How can anybody 
take us seriously when we complain about human rights, when 
they go into a State Department, they hack our computers, they 
steal our technology, we protest, and they ignore it? 

How can anybody take us seriously? We have the issue with bin 
Laden. We have the stealth helicopter. We had to blow it up. We 
were worried that the Chinese were going in there to steal the 
technology. 

The relationship that we have with China is too uneven, because 
every time we turn around, we are borrowing money from China. 
So I think that is a factor that has to be taken into consideration 
every time we make a case for human rights. They are just not 
going to take us seriously. 

They don’t care. They are moving forward. We are moving back-
ward. They just do not care about human rights. I guess we do 
have to make the efforts, but sooner or later, it has got to change. 

I was just wondering, how would the election of a Tibetan prime 
minister affect the relationship between Tibet and China? Can any-
body answer the questions? If we have an election where we have 
a prime minister, can you tell me, Mr. Baer, and the relationship 
between Tibet and the United States? 

Mr. BAER. I am not sure how the recent election of the prime 
minister of the government in exile will affect the relationship with 
China. We continue to support Chinese engagement with the Dalai 
Lama and his representatives. 

Mr. SIRES. That’s it? 
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Mr. BAER. It has been the longstanding policy through a number 
of administrations to continue to see the positive benefits that are 
available to the Chinese of engagement with the Dalai Lama, be-
cause of the moral authority that he commands within Tibet and 
outside of Tibet, and to believe that that is the best path forward 
for political dialogue. 

Mr. SIRES. Well, I am certainly of the opinion, as Mr. Connolly 
was, that I think the President should invite him and should meet 
with him. He is a world leader. He is someone who represents mil-
lions of people, and to have him to go through the back of the 
White House, that is just not acceptable. 

We are supposed to be the leader in the world of human rights. 
We stand up for something. So for whatever it is worth, you might 
just want to relate to the President that there are a lot of people 
in this Congress that feel that he should receive and give him the 
honors that he deserves. Thank you very much. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Mr. Sires. Judge Poe, the 
vice chair of the Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations, is 
recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. POE. Thank you, Madam Chair. Thank you, gentlemen, for 
being here. 

I think the overall picture should be addressed, and the overall 
focus should be on China. China is the culprit everywhere in the 
world. No matter where we are, China is snooping around causing 
trouble, and it is not good for the United States, and it is certainly 
not good for people around the globe. 

Human rights: China doesn’t believe in humans or rights. It is 
an organized, criminal activity that is the government. They steal 
American trade secrets. They steal our products. They use slave 
labor, and yet they own most of our debt, and we seem to have, 
in my opinion, a little cozy relationship with the Chinese and don’t 
take them for what they are. 

North Korea: Human trafficking, engaged in human trafficking 
into China. I think China is in on it and, when you have people 
escaping from North Korea to China—not necessarily the greatest 
stellar rights organization in the world found in China—you know 
things are bad in North Korea as far as human rights go. 

China gives a wink and a nod to the human trafficking of women 
into China. Probably goes back to their one child philosophy. I don’t 
know, but it is going on, and that is just one of the many problems 
in China, besides Tibet, that is taking place as well. 

Burma: Once again, you got the Chinese nose in Burma doing 
what it can to prevent, I think, human rights in that nation. 

So I don’t know if it is because they own our debt, if it is because 
we ignore the fact they are stealing all our products, then they re-
produce them and then sell them back to the United States, wheth-
er they are a trade partner with us, but do we have as a nation 
a policy dealing with the human rights violator, China? 

Their tentacles are through the world, North Korea, Burma, 
China, but as opposed to looking at each country by itself, do we 
have a policy of dealing openly and honest with the world and 
Americans about the Chinese tentacles of consistently violating the 
rights of people throughout the world? Mr. Baer, do you want to 
weigh in on that? 
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Mr. BAER. That is a big question. Look, I appreciate and agree 
with the fact that China, both domestically and as an international 
actor, has a very deeply disappointing record on human rights. 

I think that one of the things that will define our engagement 
with China on human rights in the years ahead is the increasing 
degree to which we recognize that, when we advocate for human 
rights and when we raise it, as we do and as we should and as Sec-
retary Clinton did publicly during the strategic and economic dia-
logue, as Vice President Biden did, as President Obama did a few 
months earlier, as we continue to do that, it is not really about us. 

It is about us in that our commitment to human rights is deeply 
a part of who we are, but what we are advocating for is that the 
Chinese Government should recognize that people want to be treat-
ed with dignity. people everywhere want to be treated with dignity, 
and it is not sustainable to deprive them of that. 

The desire of the Chinese people and the people in other coun-
tries with which the Chinese have relations, including North Korea 
and Burma, to voice their own view of their futures, to have a say 
in how they are governed, to be able to freely assemble and asso-
ciate and express themselves online—that is a right, a universal 
human right that will not be denied. It will not be denied forever. 

Mr. POE. Let me reclaim my time. But do we have a policy of 
dealing with China, not just with the human rights violations in 
their own country, but the fact that they are snooping around all 
over the world violating human rights of other people in their coun-
try? Do we have a plan? 

China ignores us. They don’t take us seriously. Is it because they 
control our debt, because of the balance of trade? They just ignore 
what we have to say. Do we have a plan? I guess that is what I 
am asking. Then I will ask Mr. King to weigh in on that or Ambas-
sador King to weigh in on the remaining of my time. 

Mr. BAER. Sir, yes, we do engage with them on their engagement 
outside of China. It is an issue that I myself raised during the 
human rights dialogue and that the Secretary and others have 
raised in our engagement with them, because, obviously, China’s 
influence is not just within the context of our bilateral relationship 
but also as a rising player in the globe. 

So we certainly engage them, and we certainly engage them not 
only on their economic and military influence, but also on their in-
fluence on human rights conditions. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Judge, we are going to hold Dr. King. 
Maybe someone will follow up. Thank you. 

Mr. POE. Thank you, Madam Chair. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Mr. Burton, the chairman of the Sub-

committee on Europe and Eurasia, is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. BURTON. Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. There is an esti-

mated 8–10 million people in reeducation camps or gulags in 
China, and I would like to follow up just briefly on what Mr. Smith 
was talking about, that we rolled out the red carpet for the head 
of the Chinese Government, and at the press conference there was 
no mention about the human rights violations that are taking place 
there and in the other countries that surround China. Do you have 
any idea why this administration and why the President hasn’t 
been very public about these horrible human rights abuses? 
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I would really like to know. Mr. Poe just mentioned, is it because 
of the debt that we have with them, the $1 trillion-plus debt, or 
what is the reason the administration in a diplomatic way can’t be 
very, very strong in expressing our concern about the horrible 
human rights situation that the Chinese have and use in that part 
of the world? 

Mr. BAER. I share your view that it is critically important to 
make it clear to the Chinese Government that their human rights 
practices, including the reeducation through labor camps, etcetera, 
are not satisfactory, are intolerable, and that they are a serious 
issue to the United States Government and an impediment to our 
bilateral relationship. But I believe that they know that. 

Mr. BURTON. Well, when the head of the Chinese Government 
comes here and gets the red carpet treatment, and they have a 
state dinner for him and they then have a press conference with 
the President of the United States, it seems to me that there 
should have been some mention of the human rights atrocities that 
are taking place over there and in the surrounding countries. 

Mr. BAER. I believe that President Obama did raise human 
rights concerns publicly with President Hu, and I can tell you that, 
from the way that the Chinese Government reacts when we raise 
human rights, that they are aware that this is a serious concern 
and that it is a serious concern to them that we are concerned. 

Mr. BURTON. Well, if that is being done or if that has been done, 
I am not aware of it. I have been on the Foreign Affairs Committee 
now for a long, long time, and since this administration took place, 
I have heard nothing from the White House about the human 
rights violations and atrocities that are taking place in that part 
of the world. 

I would like to also ask Ambassador King. South Korea opposes 
giving food aid to North Korea. They are closer to the problem and 
know more about the problem of North Korea than probably any-
body, because they are threatened by North Korea all the time. 

You said that there are monitors that go in when we send food 
aid, and obviously, we want to feed starting people. But I remem-
ber Mengistu in Ethiopia, and Mengistu was taking millions of dol-
lars worth of food and the trucks to deliver the food to the starving 
masses in Ethiopia, and he was selling it to italy and to other coun-
tries. 

So I would like to know how we monitor that and, if we are mon-
itoring that and it is helping the North Korean people, why is it 
that South Korea is opposing it? There must be some reason, be-
cause they are at loggerheads with North Korea all the time. 

Ambassador KING. We have a particularly close relationship with 
South Korea. We work with them very carefully, very closely. We 
consult with them on issues that relate to North Korea and that 
relate to regional security issues. 

We agree with them on many issues. There are some issues that 
we disagree. We have not made a decision to provide food. We are 
considering the possibility, and we have sent a team to determine 
whether there is a need that would justify it. 

Mr. BURTON. Well, you said you were in Pyongyang, and you met 
with them, and you anticipate going back, and you have a fairly 
good relationship with them. I would hope that the President of 
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South Korea would be included in your discussions, not necessarily 
with the North Koreans, but that you would have the opportunity 
to sit down with him and find out in detail the reasons why they 
think this is a mistake, number one; and number two, I think it 
is extremely important, if the administration goes ahead with this 
humanitarian aid, that it gets to the people who are starving to 
death there. 

Like money, like gold, you can move it around to the benefit of 
the government in question, and I certainly wouldn’t like to see 20 
percent of the people in North Korea continue to starve while this 
food aid or the money from the food aid goes to the Government 
of North Korea so that they can further their Communist ideology. 

Ambassador KING. I have spent more time—a lot more time in 
South Korea than I have in North Korea, and I have met with very 
senior government officials, and we have had long conversations 
about the food aid situation. 

In terms of the monitoring, we have experience in the past. We 
have provided some food aid to North Korea in 2008, 2009. We had 
a letter of understanding in terms of how the aid would be mon-
itored, and we think we were reasonably successful in terms of as-
suring that the aid that we provided was going to those who were 
most in need, to children, to nursing mothers, to the elderly, and 
we have ways of monitoring to make sure that it does. 

Mr. BURTON. Well, I hope that is the case. I remember when we 
had the nuclear issue, we thought they were going to be trust-
worthy, and they weren’t then as well. 

Ambassador KING. Well, that is why we verify. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. Congress-

woman Schmidt of Ohio is recognized for 5 minutes. 
Ms. SCHMIDT. Thank you, Madam Chair, and I first am going to 

direct my attention to Mr. Baer. 
Last fall I had the rare opportunity, quite by accident, to have 

a private meeting with the Dalai Lama for almost 30 minutes, and 
I found him to be a remarkable, honest, holy man, somebody that 
exudes peace and tranquility, and there were a few messages that 
he gave to me, one being to make sure that you take care of your 
family, but he also wanted me to understand that the family ex-
tended beyond the borders of those that are in my own home. 

So now I feel a little bit of a responsibility toward my extended 
family in Tibet and the human rights atrocities that are occurring 
because of the Chinese Government. 

First, a simple little question, because I don’t know whether this 
reflects the attitude of the administration or we just haven’t gotten 
around to it, but I understand that today, and much of 2010 as 
well, there has only been one permanent staff member in the Tibet 
Coordinator’s office in this administration. Yet under the appro-
priations legislation, the Tibet office has been given a $1 million 
annual budget for three staff members. Can you tell me why the 
Tibet Coordinator’s office is not fully staffed? That is just a simple 
question. 

Mr. BAER. Thanks very much. You are right. There is one perma-
nent staff member currently in that office. 

Ms. SCHMIDT. But it has been over a year. Why don’t we have 
three? Why aren’t we working harder? 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 10:56 Jul 25, 2011 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00050 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 F:\WORK\FULL\060211\66780 HFA PsN: SHIRL



47

Mr. BAER. The transition in the last 6 months—the current occu-
pant of the permanent staff member sitting is directly behind me 
right now, and the former occupant is now working for Senator 
Kirk. So there is only one permanent staff member. You are right. 

Since the coordinator is in the Under Secretary’s office, there are 
a number of us who work on a daily basis——

Ms. SCHMIDT. Mr. Baer, we appropriated money for this par-
ticular office to focus on this particular issue, and while we can 
talk about all the other reasons why China is acting in the way 
that it is, this is just one little thing that is a simple fix. If we gave 
you the appropriations for three staff members, maybe we can do 
a better job resonating the problems that Tibet is undergoing if we 
had it fully staffed. 

So it has had well over a year. Why isn’t it fully staffed? 
Mr. BAER. I understand, Madam Congressman. We have been 

trying to bridge the gap with visiting fellows, etcetera, and we will 
have—assuming the final security clearance goes in, we will have 
the second full staff member in the next few weeks. 

Ms. SCHMIDT. Moving on, I can see we are not going to be doing 
this in a quick time frame, and I have only a few seconds left. 

In eastern Tibet, sir, the Kirti Monastery is under siege by the 
Chinese security forces. Following the self-immolation by a Tibetan 
monk in April who was protesting Chinese policies, policies that he 
could no longer tolerate, the police descended on the monastery, 
and some 300 monks have been taken away for ‘‘patriotic edu-
cation.’’ I fear what that means to them. 

Two townspeople were killed trying to protect the monks from 
being taken away. What has this administration, albeit limited 
with only one person on board, done to protest the crackdown on 
the Kirti monastery? Was it brought up in the recent U.S.-China 
human rights dialogue and strategic and economic dialogue, and 
have you as diplomatic personnel sought to visit Kirti Monastery 
to assess this situation? 

Mr. BAER. Thank you. I will try to be expeditious in my reply. 
Yes, as soon as we heard about the reports about the events at 
Kirti, starting with the self-immolation on March 16 and the crack-
down following, we immediately engaged, but we raised this inci-
dent at length, particularly, in a meeting with United Front Work 
Department in Beijing. 

Ms. SCHMIDT. Have we visited the monastery? 
Mr. BAER. We have not visited the monastery. 
Ms. SCHMIDT. Why haven’t we visited the monastery? 
Mr. BAER. We have requested a visit to the monastery. We re-

quested that several times during the course of the humans right 
dialogue, both with our interlocutor at the MFA, as well as the 
State Administration for Religious Affairs, as well as the United 
Front Work Department. We have made it clear that, if the Chi-
nese Government would—if the reports of the Chinese Government 
are accurate, they should not——

Ms. SCHMIDT. What would happen if we just showed up at the 
door and said I want to look? 

Mr. BAER. My understanding is that it would be very difficult for 
us to get to the door. 

Ms. SCHMIDT. Have we ever tried? 
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Mr. BAER. I do not know the answer to that question. 
Ms. SCHMIDT. Thank you. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much, Ms. Schmidt. I 

am very pleased to recognize Ms. Buerkle, the vice chair of Sub-
committee on Terrorism, Nonproliferation, and Trade, for 5 min-
utes. 

Ms. BUERKLE. Thank you, Madam Chairman. Quite honestly, I 
am sitting here listening to China’s record, the concern that we 
have, whether it is that they own our debt, the abysmal human 
rights record that they have and they continue to perpetuate, and 
as I listen to you all, it is a pretty tepid response we are getting 
here today. There doesn’t seem to be a sense of urgency. 

So with that, I want to follow up with my colleague, Judge Poe. 
He talked about a plan and understanding and appreciating—mak-
ing sure this administration understands and appreciates what is 
going on. 

We didn’t get to Ambassador King about his thoughts. If you can 
articulate for us, what is this administration’s plan that illustrates 
to us an appreciation of what is going on? 

I guess I would ask all of you, why the tepid response? There 
doesn’t seem this sense of urgency. Is it because they own our 
debt? Is it because we—you know, we are tiptoeing around here. 

Mr. Baer, you mentioned that—this is when you were asked by 
Judge Poe about the plan, you said it is not about us; China should 
recognize that people wanted to be treated with dignity. 

Well, guess what? They don’t, and they won’t unless the United 
States of America stands for and sends a clear message to them 
that we are protectors and preservers of human rights. That is 
what the United States of America stands for, and that should be 
the message that they get from us. 

So I will just give you an opportunity to respond to that, and I 
want to save to 1 minute to yield to my colleague, Mr. Smith from 
New Jersey. 

Mr. BAER. Let me be brief, and then my colleagues can weigh in. 
I appreciate very much your comments, and I share with you the 
sense of urgency about the condition of human rights in China. 
There has been a backsliding in recent months. 

It is of deep, deep concern, and I don’t believe that either—
speaking for myself or for Secretary Clinton, that there is any te-
pidness in our response. I think the comments of Secretary Clinton 
starting in January on the eve of President Hu’s visit, her com-
ments at the rollout of the human rights reports, her comments at 
the recent strategic and economic dialogue have made it very clear 
that we see this as an urgent concern, that we see it as China not 
acting in China’s interest, but as Secretary Clinton said, through 
the arc of history countries that disrespect human rights will be 
less likely to be stable, prosperous and successful. 

So we have made it very clear, I think. It hasn’t been tepid at 
all, and I would say to you today, I certainly—for my own part, in 
my work within the department and when I travel to Beijing, Am-
bassador Huntsman was engaged. I expect Ambassador Locke to be 
deeply engaged in these issues. 

These are an urgent concern for the United States Government. 
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Ms. BUERKLE. If I could just interrupt here, why then—how do 
you account for the backsliding that you just referred to? 

Mr. BAER. Well, the backsliding has to do with decisions made 
by the Chinese Government, and it is true that we, the United 
States Government, are not the only lever that affects how the Chi-
nese Government makes their decisions, but we are taking a num-
ber of actions to make clear to them that, from our perspective, this 
is not in their interest, and it is also inconsistent with what we 
need to see in order to have a positive bilateral relationship in the 
future. 

Ms. BUERKLE. Thank you. I have 30 seconds left before I yield 
to the gentleman. 

Ambassador KING. I will be quick. One of the difficulties with our 
relationship with China is that it involves not only human rights 
but a whole range of other issues. 

We depend on the Chinese in terms of dealing with Iran. We de-
pend on the Chinese in terms of dealing with North Korea. The 
Chinese are a major player economically. The Chinese are a major 
player in the United nations, and we have things we would like 
them to do in the Security Council. 

Human rights is one of many issues, and we don’t have the lux-
ury of being able to concentrate just on human rights. Human 
rights is important. We try to put our efforts into it, and we, I 
think, have made some progress in that area. 

Ms. BUERKLE. Thank you, Ambassador King. I yield my time. 
Mr. SMITH. Thank you, Ms. Buerkle. I appreciate you yielding. 

Let me just ask Mr. Baer a brief question. 
Since Nuremberg war crimes tribunal and Tokyo as well, it has 

been very clear that there is no statute of limitations on either 
genocide or crimes against humanity. A few days ago Bosnian Serb 
Miladic was found and will face trial at The Hague for genocide at 
Srebrenica and crimes against humanity for the bombing of Sara-
jevo. 

As we all know, Hu Jintao ordered the murder of Tibetans in 
1989. It began his rise to power where he now metes out terrible 
human rights abuse on a daily basis. My question is: I believe it 
is time for an emphasis not just on government responsibility, but 
on holding individuals personally responsible. 

So my question would be: Do you believe, does the administration 
believe that Hu Jintao and others who are committing crimes 
against humanity and genocide, especially in Tibet, each and every 
day should be held accountable at The Hague or any other venue 
like it? 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Mr. Smith. That is an ex-
cellent question. 

Mr. SMITH. That is a yes or no question. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. I am very sorry, but we are out of 

time, and I thank the panelists for appearing before us, and we 
hope that you come back again with more concrete answers. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Now I would like to introduce our sec-
ond witness panel. The chair is pleased to welcome our witnesses. 

Mr. Richard Gere really needs no introduction. While Richard is 
celebrated throughout the world for his impressive career in film, 
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he is here today in another role of equal importance as an advocate 
for His Holiness, the Dalai Lama and the people of Tibet. 

Richard’s interest in Buddhism in Tibet traces back to a trip he 
made to Nepal in 1978. He is co-founder of the Tibet House, the 
creator of the Gere Foundation, and the chairman of the board of 
directors of the International Campaign for Tibet. He has pre-
viously appeared before this committee as a witness in March 2007 
under the chairmanship of Tom Lantos. We are very glad to have 
you back, Richard, and I thank you for being always so gracious 
as we line up our summer interns, and you are very kind to take 
a photo with each and everyone of them. 

Next we have Mr. Aung Din, who also previously testified before 
this committee in October 2009. Aung Din not only talks the talk, 
but he has walked the walk. Why do I say this? He has served over 
4 years behind bars as a political prisoner in Burma. His arrest re-
sulted from his political activities in 1988 when he helped lead the 
country’s nationwide pro-democracy uprising as vice chairperson of 
the All Burma Federation of Student Unions. 

After Amnesty International adopted him as a prisoner of con-
science and helped gain his release, Aung Din came to Washington, 
DC. Here, he founded the U.S. Campaign for Burma, an umbrella 
group of Burmese dissidents in exile and American activists. 

He has received a degree in master of international service from 
American University’s School of International Service in 2007, as 
well as degrees from the Singapore Institute of Management and 
Rangoon Institute of Technology. Welcome back, Mr. Aung Din. 

We also would like to welcome Mr. Chuck Downs, the executive 
director of the Committee for Human Rights in North Korea. He 
gave us a copy of his latest publication, ‘‘Taken: North Korea’s 
Criminal Abduction of Citizens of Other Countries: A Special Re-
port by the Committee for Human Rights in North Korea.’’

His career in defense and national security issues has spanned 
more than two decades. He previously served as Deputy Director 
for Regional Affairs and Congressional Relations in the Depart-
ment of Defense’s East Asia Office. 

As a senior fellow at the National Institute for Public Policy, he 
chaired the North Korea Working Group, which provided policy rec-
ommendations to the Office of the Secretary of Defense. 

He has published numerous articles in the New York Times, the 
Washington Post, and the Wall Street Journal, and is the author 
of a celebrated work on North Korean diplomacy, ‘‘Over The Line: 
North Korea’s Negotiating Strategy.’’

He graduated with honors in political science from Williams Col-
lege. Glad to have you, Mr. Downs. 

Finally, the committee welcomes Sophie Richardson, the advo-
cacy director of Human Rights Watch’s Asia Division. 

Ms. Richardson has conducted research and published articles in 
such publications as the Far Eastern Economic Review and the 
Wall Street Journal on democracy and human rights in China, 
Hong Kong, Cambodia and the Philippines. She is also a commen-
tator on Asian human rights issues, having appeared on CNN, the 
BBC and the National Public Radio. 
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Ms. Richardson is a graduate of the University of Virginia and 
Oberlin College and speaks Mandarin Chinese. Welcome, Ms. Rich-
ardson, to our committee. 

I kindly remind our witnesses to keep your oral testimony to no 
more than 5 minutes, and without objection your written state-
ments will be made as a part of the record. So we will start with 
Mr. Gere. Thank you, Richard. 

STATEMENT OF MR. RICHARD GERE, CHAIRMAN OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS, INTERNATIONAL CAMPAIGN FOR 
TIBET 

Mr. GERE. How are you all doing, by the way? Everyone awake? 
Madam Chairman, thank you so much for having this testimony 

today. This hearing is very important, and I, for one, am so ex-
traordinarily moved by the words I hear but, even more so, the 
passion in the voices and the hearts of all of you on this committee. 
You are educated. You are feeling. You are committed people, and 
as a U.S. citizen we couldn’t ask for more than that of you. So I 
thank you very much for bringing that with you today. 

I have a long written statement. I think you all have that. I am 
not going to go through that, but I hope you would look at that 
later, because I spent a lot of time working on that. I will read the 
first few pages just for context, and I want to have more of a lively 
dialogue between us. I think it will be more fruitful. 

Much has been covered, by the way, so many excellent questions 
and excellent responses. I felt a little sorry for Mr. Baer who, obvi-
ously, is a working stiff and is defending a lot of things that he 
probably personally doesn’t want to defend, but he did a very good 
job at that. I want to thank him for being here and taking minimal 
abuse today. 

As chairman of the Board of the International Campaign for 
Tibet, I appreciate the opportunity to testify here on an issue that 
challenges our moral compass and our ability to settle fundamental 
differences between people without resorting to violence. 

There are few international issues that have remained unre-
solved as long as Tibet has, nor one that has so intensely engaged 
the emotions of the American people. We Americans care about 
Tibet. As Senator Daniel Moynihan once said, ‘‘The Chinese inva-
sion of Tibet in 1949 does not become less criminal because it has 
remained in place over such a long period of time. The Chinese 
have been brutal. They have made no bones about it and have 
made no apologies.’’

The question of Tibet’s incorporation into the People’s Republic 
of China and the status of the Tibetans impacted by Chinese rule 
in an issue that continues to create obstacles in the U.S.-China re-
lationship, and for good reason. China resolutely refuses to recog-
nize the Tibetans’ basic rights as defined not only by the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights but also by the Chinese constitution 
that contains clear protections for national minorities, whether 
they are Uyghurs, Mongolians or Tibetans. 

I would like to note that, more recently, we have begun to wit-
ness the same intensified persecutions against Chinese citizens 
also, artists, writers, poets, lawyers, free thinkers, even simple 
farmers who have been aggressively pursued, in some cases dis-
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appeared, imprisoned or even tortured, all outside the framework 
of law. The vast apparatus of the People’s Republic of China moves 
against any expression of free thinking that is perceived as chal-
lenging the authority of the Communist party, no matter how non-
violent or benign, which sounds suspiciously like North Korea, 
Burma and any other authoritarian regime on the planet. 

I think we should view the subject of today’s hearing, North 
Korea, Burma and Tibet, as case studies that are not dissimilar to 
failed systems where long simmering tensions have erupted into vi-
olence elsewhere in the world, cases we have seen today where le-
gitimate grievances are left unattended, and fundamental freedoms 
are violently suppressed, where the voice of the people is stifled, 
and the rule of law fails to protect chronically and systematically. 

Now to quote Secretary Clinton, Beijing is on a ‘‘fool’s errand’’ to 
think it is immune to change or that it can continue to suppress 
the will of its people to communicate freely as human beings on 
this small interconnected planet. 

If the concept of the will of the people is meaningful to us at all, 
as many of us believe—I think everyone in this room does—then 
we need to look very carefully at how we engage the People’s Re-
public of China vis a vis Tibet. We can do, and we must do much, 
much better. 

Just something I would like to offer before I finish this part of 
my discussion is that neither the International Campaign for Tibet 
nor the people of Tibet are interested in China bashing. We have 
no interest in China failing. We would like to see a successful 
China, but one that is worthy as being, as the Dalai Lama says, 
an older brother to the other nations of Asia, a kind, generous, 
open, beneficent entity in Asia, and for it to be that is a success, 
truly a success. 

I think, if we follow our own hearts as Americans, and as we 
have evolved our own system and insist that all of our decisions vis 
a vis China come from that place, we can help them to become 
truly successful, and in that process, of course, Tibet will prosper. 
I have no doubt about that. Thank you all very much. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Gere follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. 
Mr. Downs. 

STATEMENT OF MR. CHUCK DOWNS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 
COMMITTEE FOR HUMAN RIGHTS IN NORTH KOREA 

Mr. DOWNS. Thank you, Madam Chairman. It is a great pleasure 
for me to be here today. As some of you may recall, I spent a few 
years working on Capitol Hill for the Policy Committee. I have the 
greatest respect for this particular committee and everything you 
have done for North Korea. 

I appear before you today as the executive director of the U.S. 
Committee for Human Rights in North Korea, and my statement 
goes through a number of issues relating to North Korea, all of 
which you are familiar with. But you have asked me to focus on 
the North Korean Human Rights Act today, which this committee 
sponsored in 2004, and Madam Chairwoman, you reauthorized as 
recently as 2008. It is a great piece of legislation, one that stands 
as a hallmark of the American people’s interest in the human 
rights of the people of North Korea. You are to be commented for 
that incredible achievement, and it gives us a roadmap from which 
we can look at a number of issues relating to North Korean human 
rights. 

Bob King, whose excellent appearance today, his fine testimony, 
and his recent trip to North Korea, is a living example of how wise 
it was to create a position of Special Envoy for North Korean 
Human Rights. 

My organization had the pleasure of having as its distinguished 
co-chair for many years the late Congressman Stephen Solarz. I ac-
tually remember helping people prepare for testimony before Con-
gressman Solarz when he was the chairman of one of your sub-
committees. His death is a great loss, as is that of former Congress-
man Lantos, he is with us in spirit today. 

Two thousand and four was an extremely interesting year for 
human rights in North Korea. You will all immediately think that 
that was the year that the North Korean Human Rights Act was 
passed. I believe it was passed on July 21st of 2004. The same 
year, a former U.S. military defector, Charles Jenkins, managed to 
put the North Korean Government in a position of having to re-
lease him so that he could join with his wife, a former Japanese 
abductee, in Japan. He left North Korea on July 12th. 

There was another big event also in July. Some 468 North Ko-
rean refugees who had made it through China, went through 
Yunnan Province, made it to Vietnam, and were sent back to South 
Korea with the approval of the government and the cooperation of 
the Government of Vietnam, socialist Vietnam, and the Govern-
ment of the Republic of South Korea. 

These actions, starting with the North Korean Human Rights 
Act, infuriated North Korea, and North Korea said in a formal 
statement issued by KCNA, the North Korean mouthpiece, ‘‘The 
DPRK will certainly make NGO organizations in some countries 
pay for the North Korean Human Rights Act.’’

On August 14, an American citizen, a young man from Utah, 24 
years old, decided to travel by himself in Yunnan. He said goodbye 
to his friends who went back to Beijing, and he decided to go up 
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the Leaping Tiger Gorge to a place called Zhongdian. He visited a 
restaurant there, a Korean restaurant, three times, and dis-
appeared. 

Our organization is looking very closely at the possibility that 
this American citizen, who spoke perfect Korean because he had 
been a Mormon missionary in Korea, and he spoke Chinese very 
well and, of course, he spoke English very well with a Midwestern 
standard dialect—he may, in fact, have been abducted by North 
Korea. 

This would make the United States the 14th country to have lost 
an individual to North Korea. We quite often think that the Japa-
nese were the only ones abducted from seaside resorts along the 
coast of Japan, but that is not, in fact, the case—the North Kore-
ans have abducted four Lebanese, people from the Netherlands, 
people from France, and a Romanian. 

The Romanian was lured to Hong Kong, found herself in 
Pyongyang. Malaysians and Singaporians were also lured to what 
they thought were job offers from people they thought were Japa-
nese, and they ended up in Pyongyang. Many of these people were 
never heard from again except that they had made it into the notes 
of other abductees and other defectors and agents who eventually 
defected. 

So thank you, Madam Chairwoman. I appreciate the opportunity 
to be here and to focus on the wide range of crimes that North 
Korea commits against human rights. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Downs follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, sir. 
Mr. Din? 

STATEMENT OF MR. AUNG DIN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR & CO-
FOUNDER, U.S. CAMPAIGN FOR BURMA 

Mr. DIN. Madam Chairwoman and Mr. Berman and members of 
the committee, thank you very much for holding this hearing today. 

Last week the Chinese Government hosted leaders from North 
Korea and Burma in its capital, Beijing. So the Burmese President, 
Thein Sein received more than $760 million interest-free loan, and 
Kim Jong Il also received financial and moral support from the 
Chinese Government. So with the strong backing and blessing from 
the Chinese Government, Thein Sein and Kim Jong Il continue 
their oppression against their own citizens unabated. 

I believe they also learned from their big brother how it controls 
its own citizens under severe restrictions and how it brutalizes dif-
ferent people and cultures. 

So this is the duty of the United States. Where the Chinese Gov-
ernment has opened its arms to embrace its fellow dictators, the 
United States Congress supports people living under the oppressed 
regimes in Burma, North Korea, Tibet and all over the world. 
Thank you, America. 
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The Tom Lantos Block Burmese JADE Act authorized a proce-
dure to terminate the sanctions clearly if the President determines 
and certifies that the military regime has (1) unconditionally re-
leased all political prisoners; (2) entered into a substantive dialogue 
with the democratic forces led by National League for Democracy 
and ethnic minorities; and (3) allowed humanitarian assistance to 
the populations affected by the armed conflict in all regions in 
Burma. Sadly, these conditions are not met yet. 

Almost all of the generals who have held power over the last 20 
years are still doing so under the veneer of civilian rule. There are 
still more than 2,000 political prisoners. There are still more than 
2 million refugees and illegal immigrants in neighboring countries 
who are forced to flee Burma to avoid political, ethnic and religious 
persecutions as well as economic hardship. 

There are still about a half-million ethnic people who are hiding 
in jungles and mountains inside the country to avoid being killed 
by the Burmese soldiers, and more than 3700 villages were de-
stroyed or burned down by the Burmese regime in the eastern 
Burma area in its decades old military campaign against ethnic mi-
norities; and there are still tens of thousands of child soldiers with-
in the Burmese military. 

Basic freedoms such as the freedom of press, freedom of associa-
tion, freedom of religion and Internet freedom are restricted. The 
gap in the country between the powerful and the powerless, the 
rich and the poor, the privileged and the disenfranchised continues 
wider, unattended, and unabated. 

Therefore, I strongly call on the United States Congress not only 
to approve the renewal of the sanctions on Burma, but also to 
strengthen it and fully implement it. Let me explain 

The JADE Act has imposed targeted financial sanctions on 
former and present leaders and officials of the regime, as well as 
any other Burmese persons who provide financial, economic, polit-
ical support for the regime, as well as their family members. 

The Department of Treasury has added names and entities of 
targeted people under their Special Designated Nationals (SDN) 
list. However, the Burmese cronies under the targeted sanctions by 
the Department of Treasury are much fewer in number than those 
who are sanctioned by the Governments of Australia and European 
Union. Many business cronies who are under the EU or Australian 
sanctions are still at large from the U.S. financial sanctions. I men-
tion some names in my prepared testimony. 

Also, the financial sanctions should also target cronies who are 
providing the regime with political and propaganda support. For 
many years, the regime has carried out a campaign called Attack 
the Media with Media to counter international criticism against its 
illegal rule through international media and foreign based radio 
stations. 

In addition to the regime owned newspapers and TVs and radio 
stations, the regime allows some cronies to set up media companies 
and produce publications of journals and magazines, as well as 
broadcasting of FM radio stations. These publications and broad-
casts portray the military as the one and only institution that can 
save the country from disintegration, attack Aung San Suu Kyi and 
the democracy forces as the puppets of the western powers, and de-
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nounce international pressure on the regime as unfair and biased, 
and praise China, Russia and Cuba as true friends of Burma. So 
I mention some names in my prepared testimony. 

However, financial sanctions alone will not hurt the regime and 
cronies substantially enough. Over time they can find ways to 
avoid the U.S. financial sanctions by moving their assets to other 
countries, using the Euro instead of American dollars, engaging 
with some agents to make U.S. dollar transactions, and setting up 
front companies to cover up their real identities. 

Therefore, the crucial part of the JADE Act should be imple-
mented. The additional banking sanctions contained in the JADE 
Act has the power to penalize any foreign bank that is doing busi-
ness with the regime or managing the regime cronies’ money. So 
this one should be implemented. If it does, it will be an effective 
threat to the regime and its cronies and foreign banks that manage 
their money. 

So the dictators in Burma, the military and its proxy party do 
not run their country themselves alone. They are fully supported 
by the business cronies who are allowed to control over entire sec-
tors of the country’s economy, trade, and natural resources in ex-
change for the allegiance and wealth sharing with the generals. 
They are like Ruhr industrialist Fritz Thyssen, who supported Hit-
ler and have funded Hitler and his Nazi party in Germany before 
the Second World War. 

So the United States should identify cronies like Fritz Thyssen 
in Burma and imposed financial and banking sanctions on them. 
This will be the best way to cut economic lifeline of the generals 
and further prevent them from stealing from the people. 

[The prepared statement of Mr. Din follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you for that recommendation. 
Thank you. 

Ms. Richardson. 

STATEMENT OF MS. SOPHIE RICHARDSON, ASIA ADVOCACY 
DIRECTOR, HUMAN RIGHTS WATCH 

Ms. RICHARDSON. Madam Chairwoman, in an effort to cover all 
three in 5 minutes, I am going to cut to the chase. We are com-
pelled to start with North Korea where, despite lip service to the 
human rights provisions in the constitution, the regime remains 
one of the most abusive in the world. This is a government that 
happily continues to pursue collective punishment, public execu-
tions and a range of forms of arbitrary detention. It also harshly 
people who leave the country without state permission. 

The economic mismanagement and Kim Jong Il’s proclaimed 
‘‘military first’’ policy are also threatening the lives of countless 
North Koreans. This year the World Food Program has reported 
that North Korea could face its worst food crisis since the famine 
of the 1990s, which claimed over 1 million lives. 

Given these circumstances, we do urge that the U.S. respond 
positively and immediately to the humanitarian imperative of re-
suming food aid to North Korea, though donors should insist on the 
kinds of steps that Ambassador King articulated about monitoring 
of the delivery and the delivery of food assistance. 

We believe that some of the startling increases in access granted 
by the North Korean Government to the U.S., the U.N. and others 
is perhaps evidence of the regime’s growing desperation, and that 
that should be acted on, and that the State Department should 
move to try to make those changes permanent. 

We also urge that the U.S. continue to strongly press the Chi-
nese Government to stop practicing refoulement, essentially send-
ing people back to a well founded fear of persecution by sending 
them back to North Korea where they face severe penalties. 

We also encourage the U.S. to continue to lean on the North Ko-
reans to let in the relevant U.N. special rapporteurs who can report 
on human rights, on food aid, and on issues related to arbitrary de-
tention and ex judicial executions. 

Burma: I am going to spend an extra minute on Burma, because 
I am a little bit taken aback by some of the State Department’s tes-
timony this morning. 

Some people have looked at the political changes in Burma, the 
election of a President and a Parliament, and concluded that this 
is a new government. That is a fiction. These are the same people 
behaving in the same ways as were running the country 6 months 
ago. 

We supported the Obama administration’s decision to try to en-
gage the Burmese military 2 years ago, and we welcomed along the 
way domination of the United States Special Representative and 
Policy Coordinator for Burma, but the question remains, what pol-
icy is there to be coordinated? 

I think we also need to spend a few minutes talking about 
whether the regime’s lack of concessions is in part a lack, in part 
a function of the State Department not necessarily—or the admin-
istration not necessarily pulling all the levers that are available to 
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it. I want to talk about two in particular that were not mentioned 
this morning, and that are worth serious consideration. 

The administration has said that it is committed to maintaining 
sanctions against the Burmese Government, but in reality it has 
refused to implement the full complement of sanctions envisioned 
by the JADE Act, including the one option most likely to be effec-
tive, which is pursuing the banks and other financial institutions 
that are holding funds on behalf of the Burmese junta. 

Moreover, 6 months ago Secretary Clinton said that the adminis-
tration was committed to—and I quote—‘‘seek accountability for 
the human rights violations that have occurred in Burma by work-
ing to establish an international commission of inquiry.’’ But in re-
ality, the administration has made little or no effort to make the 
commission a reality. 

Now this morning we heard Mr. Yun talk about how the U.S. 
can’t do things alone. Well, you know what, 15 other governments 
have agreed to support the idea of a commission of inquiry, and I 
keep asking what the U.S. has actually done to make this a reality. 
Instead, I get told that it is hard. 

You know, what is really hard? it is really hard being a Burmese 
political prisoner right now, and if the U.S. doesn’t pull these le-
vers and pursue all of the means that are available to it in these 
circumstances, it is in effect saying to people like those political 
prisoners, monks and students and other people who have come out 
on the street, you know what, guys, you are going to have to do 
it again; you are going to have to offer yourself up as human sac-
rifices to try to get the world’s attention again. That is unaccept-
able. 

In Tibet, since March 2008 when protests blew up across the pla-
teau, the human rights situation, in our view, has worsened consid-
erably as a result of several new developments, including a signifi-
cant increase in the number of troops garrisoned on the plateau, 
and intensified propaganda campaigns and hard line discourse 
from the government that blames the Dalai Lama and the Tibetan 
exile movement for any unrest. 

Tibetans now endure even sharper restrictions on their move-
ments within Tibetan areas and increased surveillance in other 
parts of China, and are forced to endure more restrictions on mon-
asteries and religious activities. 

Prior to 2008, when we all know that there were severe and sys-
tematic human rights abuses, the Chinese Government tried to 
conceal its security apparatus and political control to project the 
impression of Tibetan acquiescence to government policies. This is 
no longer the case. We are now talking about blatant militarized 
repression. 

In addition to urging that Vice President Biden raise cases of Ti-
betan political prisoners, we believe that the Chinese leadership 
and the U.S. leadership should meet with the Dalai Lama and the 
newly elected head of the government in exile. 

I am happy to provide some other thoughts about China strategy 
in particular, and happy to answer any of your questions. 

[The prepared statement of Ms. Richardson follows:]
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Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. 
Thank you very much. Thank you for excellent testimony. 
Mr. Gere, I will start with you. 
There will be likely a struggle over the next Dalai Lama when 

the current one, who is 75, passes away. Beijing authorities will 
seek to interfere with the selection of Tibet’s new next spiritual 
leader, and they would hope to put a puppet probably that they can 
control. 

We can’t imagine in a similar circumstance a European secular 
power intriguing in the Vatican to manipulate the selection of the 
heir to the See of St. Peter. So as the selection of the Dalai Lama, 
according to the reincarnation system of Tibetan Buddhism, is 
clearly an issue of religious freedom, what can or should the U.S. 
Government do to persuade Beijing to keep its hands off a purely 
religious matter? 

Mr. GERE. The total absurdity of the Chinese Government saying 
that they will be naming the next Dalai Lama, when they are an 
atheistic organization, is pretty absurd. This is totally for the Ti-
betans themselves and, frankly, with this Dalai Lama, who is much 
bigger than Tibet, belonging to the world, it is certainly not up to 
the Chinese to make this decision. 

This Dalai Lama has said also that he will not be reborn in a 
Chinese occupied area. So, clearly, he will be born in freedom, 
whether it is in India, but clearly outside of Tibet as long as it re-
mains under Chinese control and the kind of repression that there 
is now. 

In terms of the U.S., just be very clear in saying, no, this is up 
to the Tibetan people and the religious organizations within the Ti-
betan culture to make that decision. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. Mr. Downs, on 
North Korea, the North Korean Human Rights Act provides for 
broadcasting inside of North Korea, including by North Korean de-
fectors. 

Last month, a defector run radio station, based on sources that 
it had cultivated inside North Korea, carried a report on the sys-
tematic murder of special needs children. The reported rationale 
was to keep the North Korean capital, Pyongyang, devoid of dis-
abled people. If true, this would represent a horrific human rights 
violation of epic proportions. 

Can you comment or can Ms. Richardson on the likely credibility 
of this report, and can you comment on the overall effectiveness of 
these broadcasts into North Korea? 

Mr. DOWNS. Thank you, Madam Chairman. I saw that report, 
and personally I thought that it had a high level of credibility, pri-
marily because it actually identified individuals involved in the 
process and identified the source of the information to a deep de-
gree. 

It is not inconsistent with things that we have known that the 
North Korean Government has done in the past, and it makes 
sense from their perspective. So I take it as a serious concern. I 
know that Sophie will want to have some time to comment. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Yes, and also on the effectiveness of 
the transmissions. Ms. Richardson. 
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Ms. RICHARDSON. I think the broadcasting is incredibly impor-
tant, and here I will insert a plea about VOA’s Chinese language 
services. This is not the time to cut them, rather to double them. 

I think in North Korea, too, these services are incredibly impor-
tant for bolstering people’s sense of a connection with the outside 
world, but also transmitting information into and out of countries 
that don’t have free presses. These services are crucial, in our view 
and, to some extent, in our own research. 

On the issue about that report in particular, I haven’t seen it, 
but I agree entirely with Mr. Downs that those kinds of practices 
are consistent with behaviors that we have reported on in the past. 

Mr. DOWNS. Let me add one thing, if I could, specific to your 
question. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. DOWNS. Defectors are particularly adept at getting informa-

tion out of North Korea and sending information back into North 
Korea. They know what is on the minds of the people in North 
Korea. They know how to get the information, and they have been 
extremely effective. 

I can remember 10 years ago everyone questioned whether defec-
tors were a good and legitimate source for information from North 
Korea. That skepticism has diminished over the years. People no 
longer doubt that they are obtaining the best information. After 
looking at this issue for 20 years, I can tell you that there has been 
a tremendous track record on the part of defectors for saying accu-
rate things that we were later able to prove actually happened. 
Thank you. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you. Then on Burma, I won’t 
have time for your answer, but I wanted to bring up again that the 
administration has taken over 2 years to name a Special Rep-
resentative for Policy and Coordination for Burma, and it is legisla-
tively mandated in the Block Burmese JADE Act. 

I think that this prolonged delay in naming this special envoy 
has impeded our U.S. focus on the deteriorating human rights con-
dition inside Burma and on the necessity to enforce the sanctions 
mandated in the Act. So we certainly hope that we see some move-
ment there. I thank the witnesses again for their excellent testi-
mony. Pleased to yield to Mr. Berman for his 5 minutes. 

Mr. BERMAN. Thank you very much, Madam Chairman. I guess 
I would like to ask, on Tibet, Mr. Gere and perhaps Ms. Richard-
son. 

We have had a vivid demonstration from your testimony and 
what the members of the committee have said regarding what is 
going on with the Chinese in Tibet. The Chinese like to say, oh, 
the Dalai Lama just wants an independent country; he wants to se-
cede. He has publicly said that is not his goal, but still no direct 
meeting with the Dalai Lama. Now he has turned over govern-
mental responsibilities to the democratic elected leadership of the 
Tibetan Government in exile in India, and Lobsang Sangay has 
been elected to head the Tibetan exiled government. 

Do either of you see this as an opportunity where the Chinese 
might consider directly negotiating with him? Is there some strat-
egy change here that offers any hope of working or is this just an 
implacable opposition? They will always have—they always invent 
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some reason, and we shouldn’t expect anything to come from this 
transfer of power? 

Mr. GERE. I don’t think we can expect anything, but I am an op-
timist. I think things can change radically, as we have seen in our 
lifetimes. Out of nowhere, things have changed. 

Mr. BERMAN. In the last couple of months. 
Mr. GERE. And I think this can happen in China, because the 

elements are all there for this kind of radical change. When people 
have been repressed this long—and I am talking about in China, 
not just Tibet or Mongolia or with the Uyghurs or anywhere. 
Change can come extremely quickly. 

Now in terms of these negotiations, which between the Tibetans 
and the Chinese which were restarted in 2002, fruitless—to this 
point, there is nothing that has been gained. The key negotiator, 
Lodi Gyari, tries to put a good face on this, and he says, well, we 
are getting to know each other. But beyond that, and maybe a 
more civil meeting that they have every year or 2, nothing really 
has come out of the dialogue. 

Still, from the Chinese side, it is the insistence that they only 
want to talk about the fate of the Dalai Lama, where he will reside, 
what his circumstances might be. They do not want to enter into 
what the real negotiation is from the Tibetan side, which is the 
fate of 6 million Tibetans. Now until they decide to do that, of 
course, there will be no fruitful negotiations. 

Now the other question that you had about Lobsang Sangay, 
very interesting case, and I wrote about it a little bit in my paper. 
This is a boy who was born in an exiled community, in a refugee 
community and was given the possibility of becoming much more 
than that. 

Long story short, he took advantage of a Fullbright scholarship 
and was educated here in the U.S., became a professor at Harvard, 
and is now the first freely elected, fully empowered prime minister 
of Tibet, in exile, but I think the evolution of this kind of a system-
atic movement toward true democracy in the exiled Tibetan com-
munity is extremely important. 

The willingness of the Dalai Lama, who by all accounts—the psy-
chic energy, the physical energy, everything about him—is the 
leader of the Tibetan people, by his own powers stepped back, be-
cause it was good for the people to engage the ideas of democracy. 

Now if the Tibetans can do that outside of Tibet with all of the 
negative circumstances of being a refugee community, certainly 
that signals to inside of Tibet that that is also possible, and also 
by extension in China that it is possible. 

Mr. BERMAN. You are an optimist, and that is good. There is no 
reason to be here if you were not. 

Mr. GERE. I will not have it beaten out of me by anyone. 
Mr. BERMAN. I have 52 seconds left here. Mr. Din, Ms. Richard-

son, let’s assume the administration—and I do believe truly that 
the only way they are going to get real change in Burma is to get 
the neighbors of Burma to decide that this is a goal that they will 
take up with the Untied States. What is your evaluation of that 
strategy, and that, therefore, that is why they haven’t imposed the 
final sanction, or that is why they haven’t quickly enough ap-
pointed somebody? This is their goal. Is that a goal that is achiev-
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able, and would it make a difference? Now 1 second. You have until 
the chair——

Mr. DIN. Mr. Berman, we are not asking for saving our country 
from the dictatorship. U.S. sanctions alone will not make my coun-
try free. U.S. engagement also will not make my country free. The 
people of Burma are the ones who will save their country from the 
dictatorship. 

What we are asking is strengthen us better and better, and we 
can get stronger and stronger. The stronger we are, the weaker the 
region, the chance—the better we have chance to win the victory. 
So with the United States, rising of the history and make them-
selves whatever effort they can to supplement our movement in 
terms of financially, physically and morally, as well as make the 
region weaker and weaker by imposing economics and other sanc-
tions on the region as strong as possible. That is all we are asking. 

Mr. BERMAN. Could Ms. Richardson just get a word in on this 
subject as well? 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you. Could we leave that for 
maybe another—maybe Mr. Connolly will help you out. 

Mr. BERMAN. No, that is all right. I could pursue directly. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much. Mr. Smith is rec-

ognized for 5 minutes. 
Mr. SMITH. Thank you, Madam Chair. Let me thank all four of 

our witnesses for your very concrete and very serious recommenda-
tions. I think you do each of the countries in question a great serv-
ice by having very serious recommendations. 

I mentioned earlier in some of my comments to Mr. Baer a con-
cern that I have about a lack of personal accountability on the part 
of dictators and their henchmen and people who are just following 
orders who do heinous things to other people. 

Tomorrow in remembrance of the Tiananmen Square massacre, 
I will be introducing the China Democracy Promotion Act, which 
will empower the President to deny visas to those individuals who 
have committed atrocities, and the President would have that abil-
ity to say you are not coming to the United States. 

It mirrors what we did with the Belarus Democracy Act, and I 
was the author of that, and it does work when we tell the dictator-
ships we are not kidding, you are not coming here. I hope that 
maybe we could get a full head of steam for that piece of legisla-
tion. 

I mentioned earlier, Mr. Gere, and you might want to touch on 
it, Hu Jintao’s personal animosity toward Tibet cannot be over-
looked. I would say, if it is not hate, I don’t know what it is, and 
I find it very discouraging that we fail to realize people’s personal 
animosities who then get into these positions of power, and they do 
terrible things. So you might want to speak to that. 

Again, I found all of your testimonies very compelling. Mr. 
Downs, you point out that there is no reason for China to have to 
bear the burden of resettling all North Korean refugees. 

Well, as we all know—and I have actually chaired three hearings 
on this, and I would agree with you—the Chinese Government con-
tinues to commit the grave crime of refoulement. 

They send people back to certain incarceration, if not death, but 
we also found during those hearings that many of the women who 
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make their way across into China are then sold into sex trafficking 
and area abused, sex slavery and are abused horrifically, and 
China, to the best of my knowledge, has never been held to account 
for its gross violations of the refugee convention at the U.N. Again, 
the U.N. doesn’t even do a slap on the wrist vis a vis China for 
any of its crimes in this case. 

So if you could speak to that, and again—and I hope to get Mr. 
Baer to answer the question in the administration. It is time to 
hold people like Hu and others personally accountable either in a 
criminal venue like The Hague, certainly in other venues as well 
like the Refugee Convention. 

Mr. GERE. You raised a lot of very good points here, Congress-
man. We had a long talk about this earlier this morning, actually, 
and the reality of dealing with the Chinese—I think our President 
has found new footing on how to deal with the Chinese. I would 
like to see him go further, as I think most of the Congresspersons 
here would. When he made the decision not to see the Dalai Lama 
in September 2009, I believe it was, he said, no, I want to go to 
China first and start fresh with the relationship with them. 

On a certain level, that made a great deal of sense, and he talked 
to the Tibetan community about that before that decision as made 
public. It was the wrong decision, because the reality is the Chi-
nese only deal with pressure, seriousness, firmness, and every time 
we are wishy-washy with them, they take advantage of it, and this 
is not true only of the U.S. but of every other country they have 
dealings. 

A stick and a carrot is very important in dealing with the Chi-
nese. Firmness is deeply important. They do understand that, and 
anything short of that is viewed as weakness, and they will take 
advantage of it, absolutely. 

Now as to Hu Jintao, when it was clear that he was going to take 
over leadership, I asked some of our people in some of our agen-
cies—let me put it that way—about him, and they had a psycho-
logical report on him. 

They said, look, this is a guy who came out of the Party. From 
a young man, he was in the Party, and he has group-think, Party-
think. This is not a kind of alpha personality who can bring 
change. He is not a Gorbachev. He is not someone who can think 
out of the box. He is always going to be within the box of the Com-
munist party, and for his tenure there, he has proven himself to 
be exactly that. 

He wasn’t a businessman. Jiang Zemin actually was able to 
make some large moves laterally. The army at a certain point 
pulled a choke chain on him and stopped the entire process of that, 
but I think any of these guys that come out of the party system, 
there is no way that they will be the free thinkers that we want 
them to be to make radical change or even, really, systematic 
change. 

Hu Jintao, I have no doubt, has animus against the Tibetans. He 
showed it, as you said, in 1989, and he continues to show it now. 
There were many opportunities and there continue to be opportuni-
ties in Tibet to make things right. 

There is a soft way in Tibet for the Chinese to get everything 
they want, and for the Tibetans to have everything they want, and 
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coming from strength, as Hu Jintao has come from, or apparently, 
he has been willing or unable to see that. It is a great misfortune 
for China as well as Tibet. 

One other thing I would like to bring up in terms of this stick 
and carrot, the visa thing is real. They do listen to these kind of 
things. We want a consulate in Lhasa. That is important to us. As 
it is now, the closest we have is in Chengdu, and Chengdu is actu-
ally much further away from Lhasa than Kathmandu or Dhaka. 

So we want this, and we have had it on the table since the last 
time I actually spoke to you all, which was in 2007, I think, and 
I think it actually was talked about as early as 2002 very seriously. 
We want that. Now that is at the top of our list with China. 

They want consulates in Boston, Atlanta, elsewhere. This is a 
quid pro quo. If you want Boston, we want Lhasa, and to be very, 
very clear about it——

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much. Thank you. 
Thank you, Mr. Smith. Mr. Connolly. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you, Madam Chairman. Let me pick up 
where Mr. Gere was just leaving off. I am going to ask a devil’s 
advocate question. That is, what real leverage do we have on the 
Chinese, frankly, with respect to Tibet? 

They have been resettling Tibet with Han for a long time. You 
talked about 6 million Tibetans. There are 1.3 billion Han. Our re-
lationship, if anything, has shifted in a way where we are much 
more susceptible to their leverage than they are to ours, from an 
economic point of view. The largest trade deficit we have in the 
world is no longer Japan. It is China. 

They have invested in U.S. debt to the point where, frankly, they 
are our largest debtor country—or creditor country. So when we 
look at, well, what points of leverage, I know you cited visas, but 
given the enormity of Chinese presence in Tibet, given their intran-
sigence with respect to any discussion about Tibetan autonomy, the 
return of the Dalai Lama under reasonable circumstances, and so 
forth, how realistic can it be that the United States could meaning-
fully influence the Chinese to a much more enlightened and re-
formed view about Tibetan freedom? 

Mr. GERE. Everything you say is absolutely true, but the situa-
tion in Tibet can radically change quickly. The investment in Tibet 
is fairly superficial from the Chinese side. They have already taken 
the natural resources. The hundreds of billions of dollars in natural 
resources, including wood, timber, etcetera, etcetera, that is all 
gone. 

They have a large contingency of military there at this point, and 
that costs them a lot of money. But we are not invading China. We 
are not going to stop having economic relations with China, but 
there are areas that they are very sensitive to. 

Human rights, brought up consistently, is annoying to them. It 
is like having a thing in your tooth of a lion, a lion with a little 
stick stuck in his tooth. It is annoying to the point he would do 
anything to get rid of it, and that is what we have been doing from 
the Tibetan side now for 40, 50 years. 

There is a reason why they still think why do people care about 
Tibet; why do they keep bringing up Tibet? It annoys them, and 
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it is right, and it is true, and it is coming from a powerful place 
from us. 

Now I agree so totally with you who have spoken ill of the Presi-
dent for not receiving the Dalai Lama properly. That is annoying 
to them, to see the President of the United States publicly engage 
in the most appropriate way with the Dalai Lama. That is a big 
deal to them. 

The fact that the President of the United States would talk about 
human rights publicly in front of them saying this is what we 
stand for, and we are really not happy with what you are doing 
there—that is incredibly annoying to them. Now we have to do this 
consistently. 

Every time a Congressman goes near the Chinese, they have a 
list of Chinese prisoners, every single time. Every single time Tibet 
is brought up, every single time the Dalai Lama is brought up, 
every single time the negotiations between the exile government 
and the Chinese is brought up, in every situation, whether it is eco-
nomic, political, etcetera, educational, artistic exchanges, every sin-
gle one, these key points that we care about are brought up, and 
believe me, they hear it. They are so annoyed by this. 

Mr. CONNOLLY. I really take your point. We need to be speaking 
consistently and unwaveringly, because weakness is not respected 
on the other side. 

Mr. GERE. No. Taken advantage of. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. That is right. 
Mr. GERE. Immediately taken advantage of. 
Mr. CONNOLLY. Thank you. Ms. Richardson, real quickly, I heard 

your disappointment in the administration testimony in the first 
panel, and I shared it, and I wanted to give you an opportunity to 
expand a little bit on Mr. Yun’s answer to my question about how 
is it going with pragmatic engagement in Burma. 

Ms. RICHARDSON. Now well, is the short answer. The administra-
tion has, obviously, sent a number of envoys to Burma, tried to en-
gage in conversations, obviously reached out to Aung San Suu Kyi 
and others, but there haven’t been any confessions. 

I think that really is a function of the regime not feeling any real 
pressure or obligation to make those kinds of confessions, and why 
we need to wait any longer or wait until the EU, for example, de-
cides that it thinks the new government is problematic or not all 
that new or ASEAN allies have a sudden change of heart and de-
cide to take a tougher position against one of their own is a little 
bit of a mystery to me. 

We know what this government is. We know how it will act. The 
U.S. has leverage available to it, and if it has exhausted other op-
tions and hasn’t seen the desired change——

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you, Ms. Richardson. Thank 
you, Mr. Connolly. Mr. Rohrabacher is recognized for 5 minutes. 

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Thank you very much, Madam Chairman 
and, Mr. Smith, I hope you will put my name on as an original co-
sponsor to your China Democracy Promotion Act, and that sounds 
exactly right. You are actually doing something rather than just 
annoying them. 

Mr. Gere, I really appreciate you over the years. Very few people 
in your business have had meaningful commitments to human 
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rights, and you have. What was the name of your movie where you 
were the businessman in China? 

Mr. GERE. Red Corner. 
Mr. ROHRABACHER. Okay, there you go. 
Mr. GERE. A very large seller in mainland China. 
Mr. ROHRABACHER. Let me suggest that any of you who have not 

seen that movie should see it, and I thought it was very courageous 
of you to participate in something like that that could have had 
economic repercussions, for yourself. 

I do not believe that annoying dictators and gangsters makes a 
difference. I’m sorry, and the bottom line is that, if you have—and 
I always have—when I go to these countries, I carry the list of po-
litical prisoners. 

Mr. GERE. God bless you. 
Mr. ROHRABACHER. I do this all the time. Frankly, the other 

Americans who are carrying contracts and blueprints for tech-
nology development and the plan for the latest plant that they 
want to move from the United States to China—that means more 
to them than——

Mr. GERE. I think, if every single one of them had that list, your 
list—and that was primary before you got into the business. 

Mr. ROHRABACHER. Well, I will tell you, the businessmen—as I 
say, America’s actions speak so loudly that they can’t hear our 
words of support for human rights, and that is a sad, sad story. I 
am saying that, because I disagree with you on that one point. You 
are my hero on being committed to human rights the way you are, 
and the points you are making are very important for us to listen 
to. 

The reciprocity demanding for a consulate and Lhasa, for exam-
ple, is an important point to make. We need reciprocity rather than 
annoyance. We need—for example, Beijing has permitted two VOA 
reporters in their country. They have hundreds of government re-
porters from China here. 

Mr. GERE. Good point. 
Mr. ROHRABACHER. Let’s have some reciprocity. In fact, what we 

are showing them, instead of demanding reciprocity, we are closing 
up VOA. I mean, how insane. What kind of message does that 
send. All the other messages we are going to send, but we are 
going to close up the China section of VOA. Yes, we are sending 
messages, all right, and I agree with you. We should never, never 
try to have violence as our tactic that will bring about freedom in 
China. 

The people of China are our greatest ally in this fight for free-
dom and peace in the world. The Chinese Government is our worst 
adversary and enemy. We need to expand that alliance. 

One note, Ms. Richardson. Where I agree with many of the 
things that you stand for, instead I want to note one thing that I 
disagree with your testimony. That is for us to be feeding the peo-
ple of North Korea is catastrophe for the cause of freedom and the 
cause of peace, and it will not bring a more peaceful world. 

If we end up, which we have done for the last 15 years, providing 
fuel and providing food for North Korea, they will then use their 
money to buy weapons and to repress their people. There is a track 
record. It is demonstratable that that is what they will do. 
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This is what tyrants do. They don’t care about their own people. 
So we should not shift the responsibility of feeding them and pro-
viding them fuel to the Americans or other people. We should leave 
that—I’m sorry. The North Koreans will suffer because of their 
own government, not because we are not giving it to them. 

So, Madam Chairman, we have had a lot of good suggestions 
here today, and this has been a great hearing, and I appreciate you 
taking the leadership. I hope this committee—we have had these 
suggestions now, reciprocity for Lhasa and these other things that 
we have heard today. I hope that we follow up on that, and I do 
hope that we do call Americans here to explain when they are 
doing things that actually help the tyrants in places like China, but 
also in Burma and these other countries. Thank you very much. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Rohr-
abacher. Mr. Burton, chairman of the Subcommittee on Europe and 
Eurasia, is recognized. 

Mr. BURTON. I just learned that we are cutting off the funding 
for VOA to China. I didn’t know that, but I will be happy to join 
with you in getting signatures on a letter to try to get that money 
reappropriated for that. I think that is a crazy thing. That is the 
first thing I didn’t know. 

The second thing I didn’t know is that you could sing. When I 
saw Chicago, I just couldn’t believe you were singing. So I want 
you to know that that was very impressive. 

Mr. GERE. I just want you to know I am not going to sing right 
now. 

Mr. BURTON. That is fine. That is fine. Incidentally, this morning 
while I was getting ready to come to work, on the History channel 
they had a documentary on Tibet, and I wish you could have seen 
it, because I thought maybe you put them up to that, because it 
went into all the things that you were talking about, from the birth 
of the Dalai Lama all the way up to the problems that they are 
having today. So it was kind of timely. 

First of all, let me talk about North Korea. My colleague just 
said, Dr. Richardson, that we shouldn’t be sending food there. I 
concur with him. I would love to make sure that the starving peo-
ple there get food. I think that is important, but I remember—and 
I mentioned before, and you probably heard it when I was talking 
the first time around—that Mengistu got millions of dollars in 
Ethiopia, and he made money off of it and used it to repress his 
people, and it went on and on and on. 

I think that a better use of our funds and our resources would 
be to really go after North Korea in every possible way to make a 
change, and I know it is going to be very difficult, but giving them 
food aid for the starving masses, unless we could make sure it gets 
to them—and the monitors you talked about—that was talked 
about with the first panel, I just don’t have much confidence in 
them. 

You said the election in Burma was a sham. I think that most 
of us were not really aware of all the ramifications of that, but I 
will try to make sure that we communicate that to the rest of our 
colleagues who aren’t here on the Foreign Affairs Committee with 
us today. 
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North Korea said that, when we passed the Korean Government 
sanctions legislation, the Korean Human Rights Act, that the 
NGOs will pay for that. Can you elaborate on that real briefly? 
Have they done that? Has there been any repression of the NGOs 
that were there in North Korea? 

Mr. DOWNS. There were no NGOs in North Korea, and the state-
ment actually said NGOs ‘‘operating in some countries.’’ I have con-
sidered that an additional bit of circumstantial evidence that sug-
gests that the mysterious disappearance of David Sneddon was ac-
tually a North Korean abduction. There are a number of other cir-
cumstances that support the same conclusion. 

You can say that they have taken other actions as well against 
NGOs around the world, but in that particular time period there 
was one action that, I think, is attributable to North Korea that 
was responsive to the anger that they felt at that time. 

Mr. BURTON. I don’t know how much pressure this will put on 
these tyrannical governments, but I think your idea of a bill, which 
I will co-sponsor with you, to deny visas to anybody from those 
countries that are involved in human rights violations is very good, 
and I will try to help you get co-sponsors to that. 

Mr. Gere, you said that you hope that China, like other coun-
tries, will be successful and that there will be positive change. We 
all share your view that that, hopefully, will happen, but with the 
military government that they have and the Communist govern-
ment, I am not too optimistic that that is going to happen. 

So I am going to give you one more chance to elaborate on how 
you think we could put pressure on them or Burma or any of these 
other countries, Tibet, and their governments to bring about posi-
tive change. 

Mr. GERE. This is a very long discussion. 
Mr. BURTON. I know, but you are very knowledgeable, and I 

would like to hear what you have to say. 
Mr. GERE. But, I think, philosophically, too. Look, my feeling is 

that nonviolent change, real change, takes a long time, but once it 
is achieved, it is solid. It is real. It has longevity. 

There is no way that China is going to change from the outside 
rapidly. They will change from the inside, as we see. Communica-
tion becomes desperately important. We see what the Internet has 
done. 

We know what the Voice of America has done. I can tell you, the 
people, the Tibetans, nuns and monks, friends of mine who have 
gotten out of Tibet have said that that kept them alive. The hope 
that kept alive in them was extraordinary. For us to stop that, for 
the minimal amount of money, considering budget-wise what that 
is, is insane to cut that off. 

Same in China. People get information. They hear other ideas. 
As much as I do agree in this stopping visas, I want more people 
to come to the U.S. I want everyone to come to the U.S. Even if 
it is unbalanced, I want them to come and see how other people 
live, see how we live, see how we think, see the mistakes we make, 
the context of our lives. That has changed our planet rapidly, just 
seeing each other, engaging each other. 

I was in China—I think the only time I was allowed in the main-
land was in 1993, I think it was, and I have seen since then many 
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of the Chinese people that I had met at that point outside and how 
quickly they changed in the process of just seeing the rest of the 
world, hearing the rest of the world. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you. 
Mr. GERE. Engaging the rest of the world. It is huge. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much. Thank you. Our 

last question and answer period will be led by Mr. Bilirakis of Flor-
ida. 

Mr. BILIRAKIS. Thank you, Madam Chairman. I want to thank 
the panel for their testimony. I only have one question. It is not 
directly related to Tibet, North Korea or Burma, but it character-
izes Beijing’s influence in their neighborhood. 

Recent media reports—we have been discussing this issue, but 
recent media reports from the Economist, BBC, and the Taipei 
Times have disclosed the Beijing pressures, some of its Asian 
neighbors, to interfere with and even stop some independent media 
in these countries from broadcasting either locally or to mainland 
China. 

Such media include Radio Era Baru in Indonesia, Sound of Hope 
Radio Network in Vietnam, and the New Tang Dynasty TV in Tai-
wan. This is particularly troubling, since two out of the three coun-
tries are democratic countries. 

I would like to hear from the panel your thoughts on China’s 
reach into undermining democracies. 

Ms. RICHARDSON. I will try to give you a succinct answer to that. 
Yes, these cases that have been reported, I think, clearly represent 
the Chinese Government’s efforts to shut down transmissions by 
particular kinds of media outlets. 

The ones you just referred to are affiliated with the Falun Gong, 
and we have seen a very concerted effort to make sure that those 
can’t broadcast either into the mainland or to Chinese speaking 
communities across Southeast Asia. 

I think it is absolutely true that especially the regions and the 
places we are talking about today, feature regimes that, in and of 
themselves, are deeply committed to brutality, and would continue 
to be so even if China dropped off the map tomorrow, but the Chi-
nese Government does provide crucial economic support, diplomatic 
support, and certain kinds of other recognition that those regimes 
really, I think, rely on. 

One of my concerns about the hesitation on Burma of needing 
the neighborhood support—is the U.S. really looking for the sup-
port of Laos and Vietnam and Cambodia, three governments that 
have terrible track records on human rights, to help protect the 
people of Burma? That doesn’t make a whole lot of sense. But I 
think it is very clear to see that the Chinese Government will try 
to influence efforts of activism, either by Tibetans or Uyghurs. 

In other parts of Southeast Asia, we have seen a number of hor-
rifying cases of people being refoule’ed back to China from South-
east Asia, not least 20 Uyghurs who were sent back from Cambodia 
at the end of 2009 and literally not been heard from since. 

These are very worrying trends that, I think, deserve a certain 
amount of public scrutiny from the State Department. 

Mr. DIN. Those radio services such as Radio Free Asia Burmese 
service, Voice of America, Burmese service, and BBC, Burmese 
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service, also the Democratic Voice of Burma, Oslo, Norway—they 
all are very reliable and a treasure for the people of Burma, be-
cause they only have the true news information from these radio 
outlets, not from the government-controlled media. 

That is why the regimes have tried to block these radio assets. 
There are many laws in Burma. You can’t own a radio or television 
without having permission from the local authority, and you can be 
sentenced, imprisoned for 3 to 5 years for listening to the BBC or 
VOA radio services. 

I think that the regime issued the order, and then the order is 
government stuff, not to listen to these radio services. I believe that 
the regime also received such a so restricted a declaration from the 
Chinese Government to suppress all the radio coming from the 
international media. 

Mr. DOWNS. If I might very quickly, I think that the Chinese 
support of the North Korean regime is pretty well known, but we 
need to keep in mind its full range—that they use their U.N. power 
quite often to support North Korea blocking resolutions, against 
the sinking of the Cheonan, for example, and this goes all the way 
down to the local level. They allow North Korean agents to come 
in and operate against North Korean refugees inside China, remove 
them, and send them to camps, and it is not like this is completely 
unofficial. 

The Chinese Government itself repatriates North Korean refu-
gees, and sends them to their own punishment, persecution, and 
death back in North Korea, in violation of international law. I 
think it is well known. Thank you. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. Thank you so much, Mr. Bilirakis. I 
want to thank our excellent witnesses. Thank you so much. I also 
want to thank the audience. Thanks for being with us, because this 
sends us a good signal that you are interested in human rights, 
and you want to hold those human rights violators accountable. We 
thank you so much. Thank you to the members of the press who 
were with us. 

Mr. Gere, you know I have another special request of you. We 
have somehow found another crop of interns who would appreciate 
a few minutes of your time, whenever you get done with the inter-
views and discussion. 

Mr. GERE. I will give you the time to do that gladly, but I want 
you to commit to have an executive meeting with Lodi Gyari and 
other representatives of the Tibetan movement. 

Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. I will do this. Thank you. 
Mr. GERE. Thank you. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. We will do this. 
Mr. GERE. Love to have you in part of that as well. 
Chairman ROS-LEHTINEN. You know these guys will always be 

with you. Thank you so much. Thank you, all of you. 
The committee is adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 12:50 p.m., the committee was adjourned.] 
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[NOTE: Responses to these questions were not received prior to printing.] 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 10:56 Jul 25, 2011 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00109 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6621 F:\WORK\FULL\060211\66780 HFA PsN: SHIRL 66
78

0k
.e

ps



106

[NOTE: Responses to these questions were not received prior to printing.]

Æ

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 10:56 Jul 25, 2011 Jkt 000000 PO 00000 Frm 00110 Fmt 6601 Sfmt 6011 F:\WORK\FULL\060211\66780 HFA PsN: SHIRL 66
78

0l
.e

ps


